

Employment status and working conditions



Employment status and working conditions

About the authors

Anneke Goudswaard (MA) is a senior researcher/consultant at TNO Work and Employment, the Netherlands, where she participates in a work group to assist companies in the area of sustainable flexibility, and to inform governments and social partners on trends in changing work organisation and contractual relationships. She is also active in a network of European research institutes on occupational safety and health. Frank Andries (MA) works as a researcher at TNO Work and Employment. His research interests include working conditions in Europe, the quality of work of automation personnel and the vocational perspectives of the handicapped and chronically ill.



Employment status and working conditions

Anneke Goudswaard and Frank Andries

Cataloguing data can be found at the end of this publication

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2002

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb O}$ European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, 2002

For rights of translation or reproduction, applications should be made to the Director, European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, Wyattville Road, Loughlinstown, Dublin 18, Ireland.

The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions is an autonomous body of the European Union, created to assist in the formulation of future policy on social and work-related matters. Further information can be found on the Foundation website at www.eurofound.eu.int.

European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions Wyattville Road Loughlinstown Dublin 18 Ireland Telephone: (353 1) 204 31 00 Fax: (353 1) 282 64 56 E-mail: postmaster@eurofound.eu.int www.eurofound.eu.int

Printed in Ireland

The paper used in this book is chlorine-free and comes from managed forests in Northern Europe. For every tree felled, at least one new tree is planted.



During the 1990s an increasing number of employees were engaged in non-permanent contract work in the European Union. The driving forces of the growth of non-permanent contracts can, to a large extent, be explained by an active labour market policy where job creation was the focus, and this type of employment provided a way of meeting the increased demand from employers for flexible work arrangements. This trend has had significant consequences for the employees involved. Many of the new jobs have been called 'precarious', as a number of studies have shown that people in non-permanent or temporary contract agency work are exposed to worse working conditions than people in permanent employment contracts.

To monitor the development of working conditions in Europe, the European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions carried out a third European survey on working conditions in 2000 (previous surveys were carried out in 1991 and 1996). The questionnaire addressed issues related to the physical, organisational and social work environments, as well as covering the effects of working conditions on health.

This report, based on the findings from the third survey, gives an overview of the situation regarding precarious employment (non-permanent employment contracts and part-time work) in the European Union in 2000, and highlights the impact that the different types of employment (permanent, non-permanent and self-employed) has on working conditions. The report will also compare the results from the previous survey (1996) which allow trends in these issues to be noted and monitored.

Raymond-Pierre Bodin Director Eric Verborgh Deputy Director

Contents

Foreword	v
1 — Analytical framework, research questions and method	1
Aim of the research	1
Research questions	2
Analytical framework	3
Research methods	4
2 — Structural analysis of the different types of employment status	9
Trends in employment status	9
Different types of employment status in EU countries	11
Trends in employment status in Europe between 1996 and 2000	12
The structural characteristics of employment status	14
Trends in structural characteristics of employment status	16
The individual characteristics of employment status	19
Trends in individual characteristics of employment status	20
Conclusion	22
3 — Employment status and working conditions	27
First scenario: the transferral of risks in the field of conditions of work	27
Second scenario: differences in conditions of employment	30
Third scenario: intensification of work (job demands and job control)	37
Conclusion	39
4 — The impact of employment status on working conditions	47
Non-permanent contracts	47
Part-time employment	48
Self-employed without personnel	50
Conclusion	53
5 — Summary and conclusions	57
References	61
Appendix 1 — Concepts used in the survey	63
Appendix 2 — Figures from other data sources	67

Analytical framework, research questions and method

Aim of the research

The Foundation has now for the third time carried out its European survey on working conditions. Based on the results of the Second survey on 'employment status' the Foundation has found a dividing variable in the field of working conditions and health. The working conditions, in particular the physical constraints and the conditions of employment, of precarious workers are worse than those of permanent workers: more work in painful positions, more exposure to noise, more repetitive tasks and movements and less skills development, less access to training, less autonomy over their work and time, and less access to participation (Letourneux, 1998). As a result of this, more musculoskeletal problems and fatigue are found among precarious workers. Workers with a permanent contract, on the other hand, are more exposed to high speed work and show more stress and mental health problems (Letourneux, 1998). Letourneux concludes that although poorer working conditions are largely explained by the profiles of the jobs concerned, the precarious status worsens the work situation. Benach and Benavides (1999) also find a relationship between employment status and health related outcomes, after the adjustment by working conditions. They find the same relationship as Letourneux: workers with a permanent contract are more likely to report stress, but less fatigue, backache and muscular pains. Both studies reported a higher absenteeism among permanent employees. These authors will repeat their analysis on health outcomes of precarious employment on the basis of the Third survey (Benach and Benavides, 2001). As the analysis of the second European survey shows, not only the physical and psycho-social conditions of work are divergent among different employment contracts, there are also differences in access to training, skills development and workers participation.

With regard to changing work organisations and employment relations in Europe, it is important to monitor developments, and at the same time to get more in-depth information into the relationship between employment status and working conditions. The data of the European survey provides the first criterion (see Letourneux, 1998 and Benach and Benavides, 1999). The Foundation has undertaken a qualitative and comparative (case study) research project in seven European countries, to provide more insight into what has been called 'local complexity' (Goudswaard and de Nanteuil, 2000). In this case study, research on 'flexible employment policies and working conditions', an analytical distinction was made between the concept of 'conditions of work', describing the practical conditions under which people work and cope with a specific technical and organisational environment, and the concept of 'conditions of employment', describing the rules and status under which people are employed, trained and paid (Goudswaard and de Nanteuil, 2000). Based on this conceptual distinction and the description in the case studies, three 'scenarios' became visible in the relationship between flexibility and working conditions (cited from Goudswaard, 2001):

In the first case, exposure to risk is shifted to the external, flexible workers or subcontractors. Those are the people who do the dirtiest, the most dangerous and the most monotonous jobs under relatively poor ergonomic conditions. They are not as well protected as permanent employees since they often fall outside the jurisdiction of committees that monitor working conditions or labour unions. This is not always necessarily intentional; sometimes they are simply not around long or often enough to participate in safety training or employment negotiations. It is worth noting that

1

this applies not only to unskilled workers but also to highly trained ones, such as those in the chemical industry who perform machine maintenance.

In the second, more common scenario, there is no difference in actual working conditions, but a gap does develop between permanent and non-permanent workers, or full-timers and part-timers, in terms of job security, access to training, career prospects and remuneration. The flexible workers get assigned the least favourable work times and have little opportunity to improve themselves. The research points out that gender segmentation also comes into play here. Women adopt flexible working time much more frequently than men. They therefore take the full brunt of the unfavourable aspects of increased flexibility.

In the third scenario, a company's own, permanent employees are functional and flexible. This is generally considered a very positive development. Internal flexibility can result in a diversification of duties and self-enrichment, which helps prevent monotony. In practice, however, it has a number of drawbacks because it is accompanied by greater demands, more uncertainty about performance expectations and a need for extra training. That puts people under pressure, thus partially obfuscating the positive effects. The picture is also complicated by another factor: the increasing pace of work in the European Union. Another negative aspect of increased internal flexibility is that for people who are unqualified to participate in broader tasking, job monotony actually increases.

In this report the data of the Third European survey will be analysed in order to find out what evidence can be found of the three scenarios mentioned above and what trends can be found. The analyses in this report will provide quantified information on the current situation regarding employment status and working conditions and the trends between 1996 and 2000 (the Second and Third European surveys).

Research questions

The central research question is:

What is the extent of precarious employment (non-permanent employment contracts and part-time work) in the European Union in 2000 and what is the impact of employment status on working conditions?

This research question is twofold. In the first place there is the question of the occurrence of the different employment contracts (including part-time employment) and the trends between 1996 and 2000. Given the trend towards increasing flexibility, we would expect the amount of non-permanent employment contracts to have increased. This does not necessarily mean, however, that the working conditions of those concerned have deteriorated. Activities of social partners and companies in the field of occupational safety and health (OSH) prevention and national protective measures in the field of precarious employment could have an impact on the relationship between employment status and working conditions. Therefore it is interesting to answer the question of the impact of employment status on working conditions on the basis of the Third European survey, as has been done on the basis of the Second survey.

The central question will be investigated with the following more detailed questions:

- 1. What is the current extent of the different employment contracts?
 - What differences can be found between countries, sectors, occupation and company size?
 - What categories of employees are concerned (sex and age)?
 - What are the trends between 1996 and 2000?
- 2. What is the relationship between employment status and working conditions?
 - Does a non-permanent employment status (still) lead to poorer conditions of work, in terms of musculoskeletal job demands and physical and/or chemical exposure?
 - Does a non-permanent employment status (still) lead to poorer conditions of employment, in terms of flexible working time, access to training, skills development and participation?
 - What is the relationship between employment status and psycho-social job demands?
 - What are the differences from the situation in 1996?

Analytical framework

This report will in the first place provide information about the extent of the different employment statuses. The central research question speaks of precarious employment. In our more detailed questions and in our analytical framework, we will no longer use this term. The term precariousness can be used for too many different situations and can refer to either employment status or work situation. We will use the concept *employment status*, which consists of two dimensions: the type of employment contract (permanent, non-permanent or self-employed) and the duration of the contract (part-time versus full-time). As we will see there is a relationship between both dimensions, with more part-time work in non-permanent contracts. In some situations, the combination of both a non-permanent contract and a part-time contract may lead to a cumulative worse situation as regards working conditions. But in other situations, the two dimensions may travel in an opposite direction.

The other central concept of this study is *working conditions*. As we have learned from the previous case study research, this concept also consists of two dimensions: conditions of work and conditions of employment. Both conditions may be worse in some situations, but more often this will not be the case. In this report we will analyse the different aspects of the conditions of work and the different aspects of the conditions of employment. The third scenario, described above, will be described as intensification of work. For this scenario we will look at job demands and job control. Also, in the second scenario the control side of working conditions will be an important feature. One of the conclusions from previous research seems to be that one of the risks of flexibilisation is the lack of control of flexible workers over their environment (Goudswaard and de Nanteuil, 2000).

Employment status is not the only variable that may lead to bad working conditions, and will not always lead to bad working conditions. The structural characteristics of the job, and even some individual characteristics, will also be important in explaining working conditions. Therefore, we will use the following framework in our analyses. First, we will describe the extent of the different employment statuses and its characteristics (1). Then, we will describe the relationship between employment status and working conditions (2). Finally, we will look at the question if this relationship is due to the employment status or to the more structural and individual characteristics (3).



Research methods

The Third European survey on working conditions

The Third European survey on working conditions was carried out in 2000. The previous two surveys were held in 1991 and 1996. The Third Survey includes all 15 member states of the EU: Belgium, Denmark, Germany, Greece, Spain, France, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Austria, Portugal, Finland, Sweden, and the United Kingdom. In each country (except for Luxembourg where only 500 people were questioned) about 1,500 people were questioned. This brings the total of the sample to 21,703 people. Included are employees, self-employed without personnel and the self-employed with less than 10 employees (the micro firms or small employers). The questionnaire contains a variety of questions on working conditions and health. Many of the questions in 2000 were identical to those asked in 1996, but some questions were new. In order to describe trends, we have used most questions that were similar, but we did include new information when this provided new insights into our topic. The table in the Appendix shows which items of the questionnaire we have used in this report. There are some weights available in the data, but these are not without their shortcomings. We have only used non-weighted data for this report, since we are mainly concerned with comparisons between groups or between the two surveys (1996 and 2000).

Concepts used in the survey: employment status

In the survey several indicators can be found to indicate employment status. The main indicators are employment contract and duration of time. These two dimensions of employment status relate to each other, as can be illustrated in table 1.

As the table shows, we have three categories of employees in the sample: permanent, fixed term contracts and temporary agency contracts. The first category includes all employees with an openended contract, which we will call 'permanent contract', although this may not always be as permanent as the word suggests. We however, cannot describe labour law in all EU countries or make any distinction between rules in different countries. Temporary agency contracts relate to those employed through a temporary employment agency. Fixed term contracts are contracts for a specific amount of time between the company and the employee, which can be seasonal, for a few months, but also for a few years. There are too little temporary agency workers in the sample to give an overview of this type of employment status in all countries, sectors or occupations. Therefore we will combine the fixed term contracts and the temporary agency contracts into the category 'non-permanent contract', as opposed to the 'permanent contract'. Apart from these two groups of employees we will also look at the self-employed without personnel and the selfemployed with personnel. In practice, and in some countries probably more than in others, the distinction between employees and self-employed may be slight.

Table 1 Employment contract and duration of time in EU countries (2000) (9)	nd duration of time in EU countries (2000) (%)	Table 1 Employment contract
---	--	-----------------------------

	>10 hrs	10-20 hrs	20-35 hrs	>35 hrs	Total EU
Self-employed without personnel	1.8	3.5	21.2	73.5	1784
Permanent	1.4	4.5	21.3	72.8	14228
Fixed term contracts	3.0	8.6	28.4	60.0	1749
Temporary agency contracts	4.7	11.7	29.7	53.9	343
Total EU	1.6	4.9	22.0	71.4	100%
	(300)	(897)	(4.005)	(12902)	18.104

In order to be able to compare our results with the work done previously by Letourneux (1998) and by Benach and Benavides (1999 and 2001), we will further exclude workers working less then 10 hrs, for being too marginal, and we will make the distinction between part-time and full-time work at 35 hours a week.

Combining the two dimensions of employment status, we will use the following categories:

- permanent full-time contracts (>35 hrs);
- permanent part-time contracts (10-35 hrs);
- non-permanent full-time contracts (fixed term and temporary agency contracts, >35 hrs);
- non-permanent part-time contracts (fixed term and temporary agency contracts, 10-35 hrs);
- self-employed (without personnel) full-time (>35 hrs);
- self-employed (without personnel) part-time (10-35 hrs).

The survey also contains information about small employers (employing less than 10 people). We will only include this group in the first chapter, when we look at the distribution of the different groups over countries, sectors and branches. In the next chapters we will no longer focus on employers, but only on the employees and self-employed (without personnel).

If we look at the different types of employment status for employees and self-employed, we can compare the data with the data of the 1996 survey (see table 2). The majority of the employees in the sample are still employed through a permanent full-time contract, but there has been a slight decrease from 62% in 1996 to 58% in 2000. There has also been a slight decrease in the percentage of non-permanent full-time workers: from 9% to 7%. The percentage of non-permanent part-time contracts has been stable. An increase can be found in the percentage of permanent part-time employed workers from 15% to 21%.

	1996		2000	
	n=	%	n	%
Permanent >35 hpw	8.388	61.8	10.357	58.1
Permanent 10-35 hpw	2.081	15.3	3.672	20.6
Non-permanent >35 hpw	1.278	9.4	1.234	6.9
Non-permanent 10-35 hpw	605	4.5	789	4.4
Self-employed (without personnel) >35 hpw	1.008	7.4	1.332	7.5
Self-employed (without personnel) 10-35 hpw	219	1.6	443	2.5
Total	13.579	100.0	17827	100.0

Table 2Employment status in 1996 and 2000

Concepts used in the survey: working conditions

As we have described in the first section of chapter 2, we are looking for empirical evidence of the three scenarios in the relationship between employment status and working conditions that came out of previous case study research (Goudswaard and de Nanteuil, 2000). In the first scenario the *conditions of work* play a central role: the practical conditions under which people work and cope with a specific technical and organisational environment. In this report we will investigate the following aspects of the conditions of work (see the Appendix for more precise information on the different concepts):

- physical and/or chemical exposure or ambient conditions, such as vibrations, noise, temperature, toxic vapours, hazardous products and radiations;
- information on risks resulting from the use of materials, instruments or products;
- musculoskeletal job demands or ergonomical conditions, such as painful or tiring positions, handling heavy loads and repetitive movements;
- emotional job demands or discrimination, linked to age or sex.

In the second scenario the *conditions of employment* play a central role, referring to the rules and status under which people are employed, trained and/or paid. In this report we will investigate the following aspects of the conditions of employment:

- working time flexibility, including work at night, in the evening, in the weekends, shift work, working more than 10 hours a day, and the satisfaction with the duration of the contract (does one want to work more or less hours);
- control over working time, including the ability to take a break when wanted and to decide to take holidays or days of leave;
- type of payment, basic fixed salary or not;
- different indicators for skills development, such as task flexibility, level of skill demands (too high or too low) and access to training;
- social support from colleagues and bosses, and consultation.

The third scenario mainly involves the consequences of *intensification of work*, which (contrary to the previous scenarios) is believed to have a greater impact on the permanent employees than on the non-permanent employees. In order to analyse the third scenario, we will focus on the following aspects of the working conditions:

- psycho-social job demands, such as working to tight deadlines and at high speed;
- job control, that is control over the order of tasks, the method of work and the speed of work.

Concepts used in the survey: individual and structural characteristics

As we have said with regard to our analytical framework, employment status is not the only variable that may lead to bad working conditions. The structural characteristics of the job, and also some individual characteristics, will also be important in explaining working conditions.

In this report we will look at both the structural and individual characteristics of employment status (Chapter 3) and at the question: if the relationship between employment status and working conditions may be (partly) due to some structural and/or individual characteristics (Chapter 5)? We will look at the following structural characteristics:

- country;
- sector;
- size of enterprise;
- occupation.

We will look at sex and age as two individual characteristics.

Type of analysis and construction of the report

In order to answer the first part of the research question that is the extent of 'precarious' employment in the European Union, we will present the following analyses:

- a comparison of the occurrence of different employment contracts between the survey of 1996 and 2000;
- description of the occurrence of different employment contracts in different EU countries;
- description of the occurrence of different employment contracts for branch, company size and occupation;
- description of the occurrence of different employment contracts for different groups of employees (sex, age).

In order to answer the second part of the research question, that is, the impact of employment status on working conditions, we will present the following analyses:

- bivariate analysis of the relationship between employment status and conditions of work;
- bivariate analysis of the relationship between employment status and conditions of employment;
- bivariate analysis of the relationship between employment status and intensification of work;
- multivariate analyses on the impact of having a non-permanent contract, a part-time contract and being self-employed on working conditions, taking into account the structural and individual characteristics.

Structural analysis of the different types of employment status

In this chapter the different types of employment status are described. In the first section we will describe trends in the different types of employment status between the 1996 survey and the 2000 survey in the whole of the EU. In the second section we will describe the occurrence of the different types of employment status in the different EU countries and trends in the different countries. After that we will describe the structural characteristics of the different types of employment status and the individual characteristics of workers with the different employment statuses.

Trends in employment status

The issue of employment status has come to the forefront in several European countries, but also in other parts of the world. In many countries there has been a decrease in the proportion of fulltime permanent contracts. The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) has spent the last few years discussing several aspects of employment status in their annual Employment Outlook.

In 1997 the OECD Employment Outlook analysed the question: whether job insecurity has increased? They concluded that there is a widespread, and in some countries very sharp increase, in the number of individuals perceiving employment insecurity between the 1980s and the 1990s (OECD, 1997). The OECD also found that although retention rates for certain groups have fallen (blue-collar workers and less educated workers), overall jobs seem to be as stable as in the 1980s. The authors explained this paradox by the possible rising risk of joblessness for the employed, lower earnings in the new positions, and difficulties to find a satisfactory new match. Also, labour market institutions are important for the feeling of job insecurity. Perceived job insecurity is lower when unemployment benefit replacement rate is higher and when there is a higher level of collective bargaining coverage and more centralised collective bargaining. These workers feel more protected. In this report we will not look at job insecurity as such, but we will look at the trend in non-permanent employment status in the last five years. The OECD Employment Outlook 1998 has a chapter on trends in working hours. This concludes that the long-term trend decline in average annual hours has slowed and in some countries seems to have stopped; there has been a growing diversity in hours worked by employees; part-time working has increased strongly in the majority of the countries (OECD, 1998). In this report we will look at part-time employment as a dimension of employment status. We will discuss other aspects of working hours as dimensions of working conditions.

The Employment Outlook 2000 devotes a chapter to self-employment and states that selfemployment in the 1990s grew faster than civilian-employment as a whole in most OECD countries, in contrast with the 1970s, when the share of self-employment tended to fall (OECD, 2000). At the same time the proportion of self-employed with employees stabilised during the 1990s. The OECD states that the distinction between self-employment and wage employment may have weakened (franchising, self-employed that work only for one company). The article raises the issue of so-called 'false' self-employment. This is one of the reasons that we will also look at the self-employed without employees in our report, although we will not look at the issue of 'false' selfemployment. The article also discussed the working conditions of the self-employed. On average the working conditions of the self-employed seem to be less favourable than those of employees doing similar work. They report less training, but higher job satisfaction (OECD, 2000). Here we find a second reason to include the self-employed in our report.



Figure 1 Employment status in 1996 and 2000 (all workers, excluding small employers)

Figure 2 Employment status in 1996 and 2000 (less than one year in the job)



The European survey on working conditions gives information on the employment status of workers (see also table 2 in the previous chapter). When we compare the figures of 1996 and 2000 we can conclude that there has not been a major shift in the last five years (figure 2). The majority of workers are still employed in a permanent (or open-ended) contract (more than three-quarters of all workers). However, the percentage of non-permanent contracts has not increased. Instead, the share of non-permanent contracts has decreased from 14% to 11% of all workers, as it seems for the benefit of the part-time permanent contracts. The percentage of part-time employees with a

permanent contract has increased from 15% to 21%. The percentage of self-employed without personnel has slowly increased from 9% to 11% of all workers.

Since we know that an important part of the non-permanent contracts are filled by newcomers in jobs, we have also looked at the trends for people who are in their first year. If we look at these newcomers (figure 2), we usually see that more of these workers start with a non-permanent job and less with a permanent job or as self-employed without personnel. But also here, we see this shift from non-permanent contracts towards more open ended or permanent part-time contracts. The consequence of this shift is that now the permanent jobs make up a majority of the newcomers jobs in 2000 (>50%), as was not the case in 1996. The increase of the share of part-time permanent employment is the most obvious, but the percentage of permanent full-time jobs has also increased among these newcomers.

Different types of employment status in EU countries

There are large differences in employment status between the European countries. Table 3 shows the percentages including the small employers in each country. On average the percentage of small employers is about 5% and the percentage of self-employed without personnel 9%. We see the highest percentage of self-employed without personnel (38%) and micro firms (12%) in Greece. The lowest percentage of small employers (2%) and self-employed without personnel (2%) can be found in the Netherlands.

	В	DK	D	EL	I	E	F	IRL	L	NL	FIN	Р	Α	S	UK	EU
Small employers																
(micro firms)	4.6	3.6	6.7	11.9	7.5	7.8	4.3	7.1	4.0	2.2	3.6	5.8	5.6	3.4	4.2	5.4
Self-employed																
without personnel																
>35 hrs	7.8	2.4	3.5	20.1	12.0	13.6	6.4	8.7	3.0	1.3	4.8	10.2	3.2	3.6	5.1	7.0
10-35 hrs	1.7	0.5	1.1	17.7	3.1	2.2	1.2	1.5	0.2	0.7	1.1	2.5	0.7	1.8	2.1	2.3
Total self-employed																
without personnel	9.5	2.9	4.6	37.8	15.1	15.8	7.6	10.2	3.2	2.0	5.9	12.7	3.9	5.4	7.2	9.3
Permanent employed																
>35 hrs	55.3	65.4	60.7	29.5	57.2	44.9	46.6	53.2	69.1	47.9	63.8	54.0	64.0	62.8	53.4	55.0
10-35 hrs	22.6	20.0	19.8	13.8	12.3	9.4	29.3	18.8	18.2	35.4	11.2	13.7	20.0	18.6	24.8	19.5
Total permanent																
employed	77.9	85.4	80.5	43.3	69.5	54.3	75.9	72.0	87.2	83.3	75.0	67.7	84.0	81.4	78.2	74.5
Non-permanent																
employed																
>35 hrs	4.1	5.2	5.4	3.9	3.8	15.8	5.7	5.4	3.8	5.8	11.1	9.6	4.5	5.8	6.3	6.6
10-35 hrs	3.8	2.0	2.9	3.2	4.1	6.3	6.5	5.2	1.7	6.8	4.4	4.2	2.0	3.9	4.1	4.2
Total non-permanent																
employed	7.9	7.2	8.3	7.1	7.9	22.1	12.2	10.6	5.5	12.6	15.5	13.8	6.5	9.7	10.4	10.8
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100

Table 3Different types of employment status in the EU countries (2000) (total population;
column %)

The highest percentage of non-permanent employees (22%) can be observed in Spain. All other countries have between 5% and 15% of non-permanent employees. The average percentage of permanent contracts is 74%. The highest percentages of permanent employees (over 80%) can be

found in: Luxembourg, Denmark, Austria, the Netherlands, Sweden and Germany. The lowest percentages of permanent employees can be found in Greece (43%) and Spain (54%).

Trends in employment status in Europe between 1996 and 2000

As we have seen for the whole of the EU, there has been a slight shift towards more part-time permanent employment and less non-permanent contracts. In this section, we will look at trends in employment status between 1996 and 2000 for the different EU countries. We will first look at the percentages of all self-employed versus all employees (excluding small employers). Then we will look at the percentages of non-permanent contracts and part-time contracts among the employees (excluding small employers and self-employed without personnel).

The total percentage of self-employed without personnel that we found in 2000 (9.9%) is slightly more than the percentage in 1996 (9.4%). This means a very slight increase in the share of self-employed without personnel in the EU. Figure 3 shows that in most countries there has also not been a major shift in the percentage of self-employed without personnel (increases or decreases of no more than 2%). This does not include Greece, where the percentage of self-employed has increased from 30% in 1996 towards 43% in 2000.

Figure 3 Percentage of self-employed without personnel in total population (excluding small employers)



We have searched for a comparison of this data with other sources, which appeared to be very difficult. The OECD gives either figures of change in the proportion of self-employment, or figures excluding agricultural employment (OECD, 2000). Also, different concepts are used for the self-employed. Eurostat does not give percentages of self-employed versus employees, but gives figures within the group of self-employed, such as the division of the self-employed between sectors (Eurostat, 1999).

As we have seen in the first section of this chapter, the total percentage of non-permanent employed has decreased. If we only look at the share of non-permanent contracts among employees (figure 4), we see a decrease from 15% to 13%. This decrease can be observed in almost all EU countries, except for the UK (increase of 2%), Italy (increase of 1%), Germany, Portugal and Finland (stable). The decrease is the largest in Spain, still the country with the highest share of non-permanent contracts.



Figure 4 Percentage of non-permanent contracts among employees

We have found comparable data from the Labour Force survey (Eurostat, 1999). When we compare the percentage of non-permanent employees in 2000 in the European survey on working conditions with the 1999 data of the Labour Force survey, we find that also in the Eurostat data the highest percentages of non-permanent contracts are found in Spain (44%) followed by Finland (21%) and Portugal (20%). The lowest percentage of non-permanent contracts are found in Luxembourg (4%). Based on this finding, we can conclude that the data is comparable. The outcomes for the other countries are a bit diverse (see Appendix 2).

In figure 5, we can see that the total share of part-time employees among all employees has increased from 22% to 28%. This increase can be observed in almost all countries, except for the United Kingdom (decrease of 4%) and Sweden (stable). The highest percentages of part-time employees can be found in; the Netherlands (44%), followed by France (41%), Greece (34%) and the United Kingdom (33%).

We have searched for comparable data and found some information in the OECD employment outlook 1999 (part-time employment <30 hrs a week) and in the Eurostat Labour Force survey 1999 (part-time as spontaneous answer) (see Appendix 2). It seems quite difficult to compare the different statistics, because of the different concepts used. We did find the highest percentages of part-time employment in all data to be reported in the Netherlands.



Figure 5 Percentage of part-time employees versus full-time employees

The structural characteristics of employment status

After having looked at the differences between countries, we will now continue by looking at the different structural characteristics, such as company size, sector and occupation.

As we see in table 4, non-permanent contracts are more frequent in the smallest companies and so are the part-time permanent contracts. In the larger companies the percentages of permanent full-time contracts are the highest.

There are also clear differences in the share of self-employed between sectors and in the share of non-permanent contracts. The percentage of self-employed (both self-employed without personnel and small employers) is the highest in agriculture (44% self-employed without personnel and 14% small employers), followed by sales (18% self-employed without personnel and 9% small employers) and the hotel/restaurant sector (9% self-employed without personnel and 11.5% small employers). The percentage of self-employed is the lowest in public services (less than 1% in total).

The percentage of non-permanent contracts is the highest in the hotel/restaurant sector (16%), followed by the social sector (14%) and the real estate sector (12%). The percentage of permanent contracts is the highest (over 80%) in transport, manufacture, public utilities, finance and public services.

Table 4 also shows the differences between occupations in the share of self-employed or nonpermanent workers. As we may expect, the percentage of self-employed is the highest among agricultural and fishing occupations (52% self-employed without personnel and 14% small employers). The percentage of self-employed is also high among managers (26% self-employed without personnel and 26% small employers). This may seem unexpected, but on the other hand the self-employed will have to perform more managerial tasks, so they will consider themselves more often to be a manager.

		Emp	oloyees			nployed personnel)	Small employers	
	Pern	Permanent		Non-permanent				
	>35	10-35	>35	10-35	>35	10-35		Number
Size								
2-9	60.4	24.0	9.5	6.1	-	-	-	6023
10-49	63.9	23.9	7.5	4.8	-	-	-	5611
50-99	68.0	21.1	6.9	4.0	-	-	-	2009
100-499	67.8	22.1	6.5	3.6	-	-	-	2998
500 and more	71.0	19.9	6.5	2.6	-	-	-	1982
Sector								
agricultural	29.5	5.0	5.3	2.1	30.4	13.9	13.7	824
manufacture	70.5	12.5	6.5	1.7	3.2	1.1	4.6	3675
public utilities	75.0	9.8	7.9	1.8	3.0	-	2.4	187
construction	65.0	4.7	10.4	0.9	8.4	1.4	9.1	1507
sale	45.6	18.6	4.7	4.0	14.7	3.5	8.9	3759
hotel/restaurant	42.7	20.7	9.6	6.6	7.7	1.3	11.5	1021
transport	71.0	12.4	5.7	2.2	5.1	0.9	2.7	1454
finance	63.9	19.6	3.3	2.8	3.3	1.3	5.7	748
real estate	54.5	16.1	7.2	5.0	8.1	2.5	6.6	1464
public services	65.6	23.0	6.7	3.8	0.3	0.1	0.5	1457
social sector	43.5	32.8	6.8	7.5	3.9	2.7	2.6	5481
Occupation								
managers	40.2	4.9	1.9	0.5	21.5	4.9	26.1	1504
professionals	47.9	27.7	5.5	6.2	5.2	2.7	4.7	2159
technicians	55.9	22.0	6.0	4.4	5.7	1.8	4.3	2737
clerks	58.9	25.4	6.4	4.6	2.9	0.5	1.2	2892
service/sales	48.1	28.3	6.9	6.4	4.9	2.1	3.3	3011
agriculture/fishing	24.8	2.4	5.4	1.3	35.7	15.9	14.4	459
Craft/trade workers	67.6	6.7	7.9	1.5	8.4	2.0	6.0	2801
operators	73.8	11.8	7.3	2.0	2.8	0.8	1.5	1482
elementary professions	52.1	25.0	9.5	7.2	2.7	2.4	1.1	1687
armed forces	59.6	17.0	20.2	2.1	1.1	-	-	94
Fotal EU	55.0	19.5	6.6	4.2	7.0	2.3	5.4	100%

Table 4	The structura	l characteristics o	f employment sta	tus (2000)	(total population; row %)
---------	---------------	---------------------	------------------	------------	---------------------------

The percentage of non-permanent contracts are the highest amongst the armed forces (22%) and the elementary professions (17%) and the lowest among the managers (2%). Within the permanent contracts there are large differences between occupations in the percentages of part-time and full-time contracts. The highest percentages of permanent full-time contracts (more than two-thirds of all workers) can be found among operators and craft trade workers. The highest percentages of permanent part-time contracts (more than a quarter of all workers) can be found among service/sales occupations, professionals, clerks and elementary professions. In the following sections we will look at the trends between 1996 and 2000 for the different sectors and occupations.

Trends in structural characteristics of employment status

Trends in sectors

As we have seen before the total percentage of self-employed without personnel only slightly increased with a 1% rise. The change in the share of self-employed without personnel has been only slight for most sectors, apart from agriculture, where there has been an increase from 41% in 1996 to 52% in 2000. In the social sector we can observe a slight decrease of 3%.

Figure 6 Percentage of self-employed without personnel by sector (excluding small employers)



Figure 7 Percentage of non-permanent contract by sector (total employees)



The percentage of non-permanent contracts among employees has decreased from 15% to 13% (see figure 7). Only in public utilities, the percentage of non-permanent contracts has increased with a 2% rise (10% in 2000). The decrease in non-permanent contracts has been the most obvious in agriculture, where (as we have seen before) the percentage of self-employed has increased.

In the whole of the EU the share of part-time employment has increased. In figure 8, we see the percentages of part-time contracts among employees for the different sectors. The percentage of part-timers among employees is the highest in the social sector, in the hotel and restaurant sector and in sales. There has been an increase of part-time employment among employees in all sectors, but not in agriculture and construction, where the percentage of part-time employees has been stable.



Figure 8 Percentage of part-time employees by sector (total employees)

Trends in occupations

Figure 9 shows the trends in self-employment for the different occupations. As we can see, there has not been a large shift in the percentages of self-employed without personnel. The increase in the percentage of self-employed without personnel has been the highest for the managerial occupations and the agricultural occupations.

Figure 10 shows the percentage of non-permanent contracts among employees in different occupations. The general decrease in non-permanent contracts among employees can be observed in almost all occupations, except the managers and clerks, where the percentage has been stable. The strongest decrease can be observed in agricultural occupations.

Finally, we can observe the trend in part-time employment in the different occupations (figure 11). Part-time employment is most frequent among professionals, service and sales occupations and elementary professions. An increase in part-time employment among employees can be found among service/sales occupations, clerks, but also among technicians, craft/trade workers, operators, elementary professions and armed forces. A decrease can be observed in agricultural occupations. The percentage of part-time contracts among managers has been stable.



Figure 9 Percentage of self-employed without personnel by occupation (total population, excl. small employers)

Figure 10 Percentage of non-permanent contracts by occupation (total employees)





Figure 11 Percentage of part-time employees by occupation (total employees)

The individual characteristics of employment status

In this section we will look at the individual characteristics of employment status and observe the differences in employment status between men and women and for different age groups.

Table 5	The individual characteristics of employment status (2000) (total population;
	row %)

		Emp	loyees			ployed personnel)	Small employers		
	Pern	anent	Non-permanent						
	>35	10-35	>35	10-35	>35	10-35		Number	
Sex									
male	63.9	8.9	6.7	2.3	8.6	2.3	7.3	10452	
female	43.9	32.8	6.4	6.6	4.9	2.4	3.0	8375	
Age									
15-24	49.0	16.8	19.1	11.4	1.6	0.8	1.3	1904	
25-34	57.4	18.8	8.0	4.9	5.3	1.9	3.7	5154	
35-44	55.7	20.8	4.5	3.4	7.2	2.0	6.4	5619	
45-54	56.7	20.8	3.2	2.2	8.2	2.4	6.6	4349	
55-64	50.7	18.0	3.8	1.8	12.9	4.7	8.2	1651	
65+	21.3	10.7	4.0	3.3	20.7	23.3	16.7	150	
Total EU	55.0	19.5	6.6	4.2	7.0	2.3	5.4	100%	

As we can see in table 5, men work more as self-employed than women. Of all men 18% are self-employed without personnel or small employers, and of all women only 10%¹. Women, however, work more in non-permanent contracts (13%) than men (9%) and in particular in part-time non-

¹ In the rest of this chapter we will exclude the small employers and only look at self-employed without personnel.

permanent contracts (7% of all women and only 2% of all men have a non-permanent part-time job). As we know, female employees in general work more in part-time jobs. We can also observe this in the permanent jobs: 64% of all men work in a full-time permanent contract and 44% of all women; 33% of all women work on a part-time permanent contract and only 9% of all men.

As we look at the different age groups we see that the non-permanent jobs are more allocated to young employees and that the self-employed are mainly the older employees. This is shown very clearly in figure 12, when we see a drop in the share of employees and an increase in the self-employed without personnel as age increases.

However, if we only take a look at newcomers in the job, those who have been in any particular job for less than one year, we see a slightly different picture (figure 13). We observe higher percentages of non-permanent contracts in all age groups, and we see that only a few of the older workers start their self-employment at this older age.



Figure 12 Employment status by sex and age in 2000 (all workers, excluding small employers)

Trends in individual characteristics of employment status

In the last section we will look at trends between 1996 and 2000 on the basis of individual characteristics. As we have seen, the total percentage of self-employed has slightly increased, but this is not the case for the youngest and the oldest age groups (figure 14). In particular the decrease in the oldest age group (65+) is remarkable.

The decrease in non-permanent contracts is the same for men and women and can be found in all age groups (figure 15). And, finally, the increase in part-time employment among employees has been the same for men and women and for all age groups (figure 16).



Figure 13 Employment status by sex and age in 2000 (less than one year in the job)

Figure 14 Percentage of self-employed without personnel by sex and age (all workers, excluding small employers)





Figure 15 Percentage of non-permanent contracts by sex and age (total employees)

non-permanent contract in 1996 non-permanent contract in 2000

Conclusion

In the 1980s and 1990s there was a change in employment relations. Although in most countries the full-time job with a permanent contract has become less important. On the other hand, there has been an increase in part-time jobs, non-permanent jobs and self-employment. In this chapter we have answered the question of whether this trend has continued over the last five years. On the basis of the comparison between the Second and Third European survey on working conditions, we can conclude that there has been no further growth of non-permanent contracts in the EU. The percentage of non-permanent contracts among employees has decreased from 15% in 1996 to 13% in 2000. If we only consider newcomers in jobs, the share of non-permanent contracts is more important, but here we also see a decrease: in 2000 the majority of employees have started a job with a permanent contract, which was not the case in 1996. The growth in part-time employed has continued, the percentage of part-time jobs among all employees has grown from 22% in 1996 to 28% in 2000. There has also been a slight increase in the percentage of self-employed without personnel versus employees (from 9% in 1996 to 10% in 2000).

There appears to have been a shift in the employment status of employees, with a decrease in the share of non-permanent contracts with an increase in the share of part-time permanent contracts. This shift can be fond for both men and women and for all age groups. The picture of the employee with a non-permanent or a part-time contract has not changed, however: women work more often in a non-permanent job and in a part-time job than men. The percentage of non-permanent jobs is the highest among the young (age <25); decreases with the age of the employee and increases again after age 65. The percentage of part-time contracts is divided relatively equal among all age groups.

Although there are differences between sectors and between occupations the decrease of nonpermanent contracts and the increase of part-time employment can be found everywhere. The sector with the highest percentage of non-permanent contracts among the employees is the hotel/restaurant sector (20%), followed by agriculture (18%) and the social sector (16%). All other sectors have between 7% and 15% non-permanent contracts. The lowest percentage of non-permanent contracts can be found in finance (7%).



Figure 16 Percentage of part-time employees by sex and age (total employees)

Figure 17 Employment status in sectors in 2000 (all workers, excluding small employers)



The differences in part-time employment between the sectors are larger, varying from 7% to 45%. The highest percentages of part-time contracts among employees can be found in the social sector (45%), hotel/restaurants (34%) and sales (31%). The lowest percentage can be found in construction (7%).





When we look at the different occupations we see a range from 5% to 23% for non-permanent contracts. The highest percentage of non-permanent contracts can be found in the armed forces (23%), agriculture (20%) and the elementary professions (18%). The lowest percentage of non-permanent contracts is found among managers (5%). The percentage of part-time contracts varies from 10% for craft/trade workers to 39% for service/sales occupations and professionals.

We did not only look at the employees, but also at the self-employed without personnel. The distinction between employees and these groups of self-employed seems to have become slight. The percentage of self-employed without personnel is strongly connected to the sectoral structure, since most self-employed work in agriculture (more than half of the employees in agriculture in 2000 are self-employed). The share of self-employed without personnel versus employees has grown slightly between 1996 and 2000. In most sectors the changes have been small. Growth has been the largest in agriculture. When we look at the occupations of the self-employed without personnel we see that they work mostly in agricultural occupations and in managerial occupations (which is probably a generic name used by the self-employed without a specific occupation).

The share of self-employed without personnel in the age groups between 25 and 65 has grown, but the share of self-employed without personnel younger than 25 (only a small proportion of all self-employed without personnel) and the share of self-employed without personnel older than 65 (a

large proportion of the self-employed without personnel) have decreased. The common picture of the self-employed without personnel does not change: men work more as self-employed without personnel than women and the share of self-employed without personnel increases slightly with age, and strongly after age 65.

We started this chapter by looking at the differences between the EU countries. Comparison of these figures with other sources was difficult, because of the differences in concepts used. We will only repeat the main differences found between the countries in the European survey.

The highest percentage of self-employed can be found in Greece, the lowest percentage of self-employed in the Netherlands. In most countries there has not been a major shift in the percentage of self-employed without personnel (increases or decreases of no more than 2%). This does not include Greece, where the percentage of self-employed without personnel has increased from 30% in 1996 to 43% in 2000.

The highest percentage of non-permanent contracts can be found in Spain (22% of total population), followed by Portugal and Finland (>10% of population). Most other countries vary between 5-10%. The percentage of non-permanent contracts decreased in all countries, except for the UK, Italy, Germany, Portugal and Finland.

The highest percentage of part-time employees can be observed in the Netherlands (44% of all employees), France (41%), Greece (34%) and the UK (33%). The lowest percentage of part-time employees was in Finland (17%). All other countries vary between 20-30%. An increase in part-time employment is found in all countries, except for the UK and Sweden.



Figure 19 Employment status in EU countries in 2000 (all workers, excluding small workers)

Employment status and working conditions

In this chapter the three scenarios in the relationship between employment status and working conditions that came out of the case study research will be analysed.

In the first scenario exposure to risks is shifted towards flexible workers. Non-permanent workers and/or part-time workers are hired to do the work with high chemical, physical or musculoskeletal risks. In this scenario the gap between permanent and non-permanent employees is based on the distinction in conditions of work. Since there is also a distinction between conditions of employment, we can speak of a cumulative situation. We will analyse this scenario in Chapter 4, section 2, where we will look at differences between categories of employment status in ambient conditions, in ergonomic conditions and in emotional job demands.

In the second scenario there is no difference in actual conditions of work, but a gap develops between permanent and non-permanent and between part-time and full-time workers in the field of access to training, skills development and (control over) working time. We will analyse this scenario in Chapter 4, where we will look at differences between categories of employment status in working time and control over working time, in payment, in different aspects of skills development and training and in social support and consultation.

The third scenario concerns intensification of work for the 'core population'. In this scenario the psycho-social job demands are high for all workers, but more so for the permanent workers working in a flexible environment. We will analyse this scenario in Chapter 4, in the section dealing with differences in job demands and job control between categories of employment.

In this chapter we will present some tables that show the occurrence of the different aspects of working conditions for the different employment statuses. We will describe the percentages of employees exposed to the different risks at the level of the items². In order to compare the results with Letourneux (1998) we will use the same items as have been used before. In order to compare the results to the total of the population we will use the same scales³ that have been used by Houtman et al. (2001). These scales will also be used in the multivariate analyses in the next chapter. In the next chapter we will describe the results of multivariate analyses, in which we analyse whether the differences found in this chapter are due to the employment status or to other structural and/or individual variables.

First scenario: the transferral of risks in the field of conditions of work

In this section we will describe the differences between groups of workers in conditions of work. We will look at physical and chemical exposure or ambient conditions, at musculoskeletal job demands or ergonomic conditions, and at emotional job demands.

² An *item* represents a single question in the questionnaire. We will present the percentage of workers that have answered 'yes' to the specific question or item. *Example* in table 6: 23.8% of the full-time employees with a permanent contract say that they are exposed for at least $\frac{1}{4}$ of their time to vibrations; 11.3% of the part-time employees with a permanent contract say that they are exposed for at least $\frac{1}{4}$ of their time to vibrations. In some tables we have used the percentage 'no' (see table 10).

³ A *scale* represents a number of items or questions that are related to each other. The score that is given in the table represents the number of positive answers to the items in the specific scale. In order to be able to compare the different scales, they have all been calculated in a range from 0 to 100. *Example* in table 6: the full-time employees with a non-permanent contract have the highest score on unfavourable ambient conditions (a score of 14.2 on a range of 0-100).
Analysing the Second survey on working conditions, Letourneux found that the conditions of work of non-permanent workers were worse than those of permanent workers with regard to exposure to noise, painful or tiring positions, handling heavy loads and repetitive movements (Letourneux, 1999a). In this section we will see if this is still the case in 2000. We will, however, not only make a distinction between permanent and non-permanent contracts, but also between part-time and full-time contract⁴.

Physical and chemical exposure or ambient conditions

	Perma	anent tract	Non-perr contr		Self-em	. ,	Total
-	Full-time	Part-time		Part-time	Full-time	Part-time	
For at least ¼ of working time							
exposed to: (% 'yes')							
- Vibrations	23.8	11.3	26.8	11.4	25.1	19.5	20.9
- Loud noise	31.5	21.5	33.5	23.2	23.5	16.5	28.2
- Extreme temperatures	32.3	25.5	34.2	27.4	27.9	28.5	30.4
- Toxic Vapours	24.0	14.1	25.2	12.1	25.3	24.0	21.6
- Hazardous products	15.2	9.5	15.5	8.7	16.1	19.9	14.0
- Radiation	6.5	3.6	6.8	2.7	3.2	2.0	5.4
Unfavourable ambient conditions (scale scores, range 0-100; + higher score than the average, - lower than average)							
1996	12.5 +	7.9 -	14.2 +	8.7 -	11.7	12.2	11.7
2000	12.7 +	8.1 -	13.4 +	7.8 -	11.1	10.6	11.4
	non-per	manent – j	ermanent		par	t-time – full-t	ime
Unfavourable ambient conditions: Tested difference in scale scores (+ positive; - negative;	1996		2000		1996		2000
ns = not significant)	ns		ns		-		-
How well informed were you about the risks resulting from the use of materials, instruments or products which you handle in your job							
were you? (column %)							
- very well	46.6	48.8	39.6	39.2	46.2	43.8	46.1
- fairly well	42.8	41.3	44.5	42.3	43.9	41.5	42.7
- not very well	7.9	7.5	11.8	12.9	8.2	11.6	8.5
- not at all	2.6	2.4	4.0	5.6	1.7	3.1	2.7

Table 6 Employment status and physical and/or chemical exposure

If we look at the different items in table 6, we can see some differences between groups of employees when it comes to exposure to unfavourable ambient conditions. Full-time employees with a non-permanent contract have the highest exposure rates. Employees with full-time non-permanent contracts are most exposed to extreme temperatures (34% of this group states that they are exposed to this for at least a quarter of the working time), loud noise (33.5%) and vibrations (27%). However we can also see that the differences between part-timers and full-timers are greater

⁴ In the tables we have marked the differences between these groups only with a significance of p < .001.

than the differences between permanent and non-permanent contracts. Part-time employees are less exposed to unfavourable ambient conditions than full-time employees. If we look at the trend between 1996 and 2000, we see that the differences between permanent and non-permanent contracts have diminished. The exposure rates of permanent contracts have slightly increased and the exposure rates of non-permanent contracts slightly decreased. We can assume that this is mainly due to sectoral changes with regard to the non-permanent contracts and not to the improvement of the work situation for non-permanent contracts as a whole.

Table 6 also shows the differences in information about these risks. Here, we do see differences between employees with a permanent contract and the other groups. Both full-time and part-time employees with a permanent contract are better informed about risks, together with the full-time self-employed without personnel. Part-time employees with a non-permanent contract are the least informed about risks (18.5% is not at all or not very well informed), followed by the full-time employees with a non-permanent contract (16%) and the part-time self-employed without personnel (15%).

Musculoskeletal job demands or ergonomic conditions

In table 7 we can see the differences in exposure to musculoskeletal job demands or unfavourable ergonomic conditions. The self-employed seem to be the group most affected when it comes to unfavourable ergonomic conditions. Over 50% of the self-employed without personnel report painful or tiring positions for at least a quarter of their working time.

	Perma cont		Non-pern contr		Self-em (without p		Total
	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-time	
For at least ¼ of working time							
exposed to: (% 'yes')							
- Painful or tiring positions	45.1	42.1	49.6	44.3	54.3	57.9	45.7
- Carrying or handling heavy loads	35.7	30.2	41.4	30.2	44.1	38.5	35.4
- Repetitive arm or hand movements	59.3	55.6	63.7	57.0	63.2	56.0	59.0
Unfavourable ergonomic conditions							
(scale scores, range 0-100;							
+ higher score than the average,							
lower than average)							
1996	24.5	23.0 -	30.9 +	26.9	31.1 +	30.2 +	25.6
2000	26.8	24.9 -	30.1 +	24.9	31.1 +	28.5	26.9
	non-per	manent – pei	manent		par	t-time – full-ti	me
Unfavourable ergonomic conditions:	1996		2000		1996		2000
Tested difference in scale scores							
(+ positive; - negative;							
ns = not significant)	+		+		-		-

Table 7 Employment status and musculoskeletal job demands

Also, the employees with a full-time non-permanent contract report high rates of unfavourable ergonomic conditions. More than 60% of full-time non-permanent employees and more than 60% of full-time self-employed without personnel report repetitive arm or hand movements for at least one quarter of their working time. Full-time employees report more unfavourable conditions than

part-time employees. Both the difference between permanent and non-permanent contracts and the difference between part-time and full-time employment is significant. When we look at the trend, we see an increase in the amount of unfavourable ergonomic conditions, but we also observe that the differences between permanent employees and the other groups have become smaller. Here also we may wonder whether this is due to sectoral changes.

Emotional job demands or discrimination

As table 8 shows, there has been a slight increase in harassment or discrimination in the workplace between 1996 and 2000. When we look at the differences in employment status we see that this increase has mainly been reported by non-permanent employees working full-time and self-employed without personnel working full-time. The differences between either non-permanent and permanent contracts or between part-timers and full-timers are not consistent in the two samples. In the 2000 sample, the full-time non-permanent employees are significantly more exposed to harassment than the other groups. In 1996 however, it was the part-time permanent employees who were most exposed. When we look at the item intimidation for 2000, we see then both the part-time permanent employees and the full-time non-permanent employees report the highest levels of intimidation.

	Perma cont		Non-pern contr		Self-em (without p		Total
	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-time	
Intimidation							
1996	7.6	9.3 +	7.0	8.1	3.6 -	5.0	7.5
2000	9.6	11.3 +	12.0	8.4	6.3 -	4.3 -	9.7
Discrimination linked to age							
1996	2.6	2.6	4.9 +	5.0 +	1.6	4.6	2.7
2000	2.5	2.4	5.5 +	3.6	1.7	1.1	2.5
Sexual discrimination (only female workers)							
1996	2.1	3.7 +	9.8	1.5	2.8	3.0	3.3
2000	2.3	2.9	1.7	2.8	3.2	2.5	3.0
Harassment/discrimination (scale scores, range 0-100; + higher score than the average, - lower than average)							
1996	2.2	2.8 +	2.6	3.1	1.2 -	2.7	2.3
2000	2.6	3.0 +	3.7 +	2.9	1.8 -	1.3 -	2.7
	non-per	manent – pei	rmanent		par	t-time – full-ti	me
Harassment/discrimination 1996 Tested difference in scale scores	1996		2000		1996		2000
(+ positive; - negative;							
ns = not significant)	ns		+		+		ns

Table 8 Employment status and emotional job demands

(% 'yes'; + higher percentage than the average; - lower than average)

Second scenario: differences in conditions of employment

In this section we will look at the differences between groups of workers in conditions of employment. First we will look at the working hours and working time flexibility and the control over working time . Next we will look at type of payment. Third, we will look at different aspects of skills development and training. Finally, we will look at social support or consultation.

Analysing the Second survey on working conditions, Letourneux found that the conditions of employment of non-permanent workers were worse than those of permanent workers with regard to learning new things, receiving less training and performing monotonous tasks and are less likely to discuss problems relating to their work with colleagues or bosses (Letourneux, 1999a). Letourneux found a relationship between employment contract and duration of time, but did not find a large difference in working in weekends or at night. Temporary agency workers, however, work more at irregular hours than employees with a permanent contract (Letourneux, 1999a). In this section we will see if this is still the case in 2000. We will, however, not only make a distinction between permanent and non-permanent contracts, but also between part-time and full-time contracts.

Working time flexibility and control over working time

In table 9 we can see different aspects of working time flexibility. Some of the items are new to the questionnaire and cannot be compared to the previous survey.

The self-employed without personnel are working more during weekends than the employees. More than 50% of full-time self-employed work at weekends and more than 40% of part-time self-employed. Non-permanent employees work more at weekends than permanent employees. Only 21-22% of the employees with a permanent contract work weekends. The amount of work during weekends for all workers has been stable between 1996 and 2000.

Self-employed without personnel also work longer days more often: they work more times a month in excess of 10 hours a day than all categories of employees. They do not work more at night than employees. Part-time employees work less at weekends and also less at non-standard work hours. Full-time employees with a non-permanent contract work most in shifts, self-employed the least. The differences in shift work between permanent and non-permanent contracts or between parttimers and full-timers on the whole are not significant.

	Perma cont		Non-pern contr		Self-em (without p	ployed personnel)	Total
	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-time	
No. of Sundays per month	1.6	1.6	1.7	1.6	2.3 +	2.2 +	1.6
No. of Saturdays per month	2.1	2.1	2.3	2.3	4.0 +	3.3 +	2.3
No. of times a month more than							
10 hours a day	3.2	1.7	3.0	1.5	7.3	4.7	3.1
No. of nights per month	2.3	2.0	2.7	1.8	2.7	2.2	2.3
Working over weekends							
(scale scores, range 0-100;							
+ higher score than the average,							
- lower than average)							
1996	21.3 -	21.4 -	24.8	26.2	56.8 +	35.6 +	24.7
2000	21.3 -	22.0 -	24.7	22.6	53.5 +	44.8 +	24.7
	non-per	manent – pe	rmanent		par	t-time – full-t	ime
Working in weekends	1996		2000		1996		2000
Tested difference in scale scores							
(+ positive; - negative;							
ns = not significant)	+		+		ns		ns

Table 9	Employment status	and working	time flexibility
	Linployment status	and working	

Table 9 (continued)

	Perma conti			Non-perm contra			Self-em (without p		el)	Total
	Full-time	Part-t	ime	Full-time	Part-t	ime	Full-time	Part-t	ime	
Non-standard working hours										
(weekends + nights) (scale scores,										
range 0-100; + higher score than										
the average, - lower than average)										
2000	17.9 -	15.6	-	20.6	16.0) -	43.8 +	34.7	+	19.8
	non-peri	manent	– per	manent			part	-time -	full-ti	me
Non-standard working hours	1996			2000		1996			2000	
Tested difference in scale scores	not available			ns			not available			-
(+ positive; - negative;										
ns = not significant										
Shift work (scale scores, range 0-100;										
+ higher score than the average,										
lower than average)										
2000	19.6 +	18.	D	24.6 +	18.	3	3.8 -	3.4	-	18.0
	non-peri	non-permanent – permanent part-time – full-ti		part-time – full			full-ti	me		
Shift work	1996			2000			1996			2000
Tested difference in scale scores	not available			ns			not available			ns
+ positive; - negative;										
ns = not significant)										

Table 10 Employment status and control over working time

	Perma cont		Non-perr contr			ployed personnel)	Total
	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-time	
Can you							
 take a break when you 							
want to (% 'no')							
1996	43.8	53.7	+ 53.5 +	59.2 +	21.7 -	36.5	45.1
2000	46.5	53.7 +	57.1 +	58.7 +	20.1 -	15.1 -	46.5
 decide when to take holidays or 							
days of leave (% 'no')							
1996	58.1	62.0 +	84.4 +	84.4 +	22.1 -	43.8	56.5
2000	58.8	60.8 +	80.6 +	81.1 +	21.1 -	15.1	55.3
Less control over working time							
(scale scores, range 0-100;							
+ higher score than the average,							
- lower than average)							
2000	49.4 +	53.5 +	62.1 +	59.8 +	15.0 -	11.0 -	48.1
	non-peri	manent – pe	ermanent		pai	rt-time – fullti	me
Less control over working time	1996		2000		1996		2000
Tested difference in scale scores	not available +	+	not available	+			
(+ positive; - negative;							
ns = not significant)							
Would you like to work (% 'yes')							
- more hours	14.1	20.7	20.3	43.3	13.3	16.3	23.6
- less hours	38.9	8.7	15.6	4.8	51.1	11.1	10.8
 the same number of hours 	47.0	70.6	64.1	51.9	35.6	72.6	65.5

Table 10 shows that there is a relationship between employment status and control over working time. In this case it is cumulative for being a part-timer and having a non-permanent contract. Employees with a non-permanent contract have less control over their working time and part-time employees have less control over their working time than full-time employees. More than 50% of the part-time employees and/or the non-permanent contracts cannot take a break when they want to, and more than 80% of the employees with a non-permanent contract cannot decide when to take holidays or days leave. The self-employed seem to have most control over their working time.

We also have some information on how satisfied workers are with the amount of hours they work. In table 10 we can see that the part-time employees with a permanent contract and the part-time self-employed without personnel are the most satisfied with their hours of work (more than 70% would like to work the same number of hours). The self-employed without personnel that work full-time are the least satisfied: over 50% of them would like to work fewer hours. On the other hand, over 40% of the part-time employees with a non-permanent contract are not satisfied because they would like to work more hours. This group can be referred to as the involuntary part-timers.

Type of payment

The questionnaire also provides us with some information about type of payment. As we can see in table 11, employees with a non-permanent contract are less secure in their income than employees with a permanent contract, because they have less basic fixed salaries. The percentage of employees with no fixed salary is highest among the part-time employees with a non-permanent contract. The total percentage of employees with no fixed salary has been stable over the years, although the differences between permanent and non-permanent contracts have decreased slightly.

	Perma		Non-perr			Self-em		Total
	cont	ract	contr	act		(without p	ersonnel))
	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-	time	Full-time	Part-tim	ne
Do you have a basic fixed salary								
(% 'no'; + higher percentage								
than the average,								
- lower than average)								
1996	5.1 -	5.0	9.3 +	14.0) +	-	-	5.9
2000	5.5	5.3	7.7 +	11.3	3 +			5.9
	non-per	manent – pei	manent			part	t-time – fi	ull-time
No basic fixed salary	1996		2000			1996		2000
Tested difference in scale scores								
(+ positive; - negative;								
ns = not significant)	+		+			ns		ns

Table 11 Employment status and salary

Skills development, task flexibility and access to training

We have different indicators that relate to workers' access to skills development and training. Some indicators have to do with the content of the job and give information on the ability to learn by being allocated to challenging work or being allocated to work that matches the personal abilities. Other indicators relate to the investment of the companies in additional training.

Table 12 shows the difference in skills development due to the content of the job. Items had to do with solving problems, performing complex tasks and learning new things in work. We can see a (cumulative) difference between permanent and non-permanent employees and between full-timers and part-timers. Full-time employees perform more skilful jobs than part-time employees and employees with permanent contracts more than employees with non-permanent contracts. There has been no improvement in the content of jobs between 1996 and 2000, but here also the distinction between permanent and non-permanent jobs has decreased a bit. Also interesting is that part-time self-employed without personnel perform jobs which require low skills. The full-time employees with a permanent contract have the best scores.

Table 13 shows another aspect of skills development through the content of the work, in this case through being involved in task rotation or working in teams (task flexibility). There are no significant differences between permanent and non-permanent employees with regard to task flexibility (both work in teams and task rotation), but there are differences in the amount of task rotation. Permanent employees are more involved in task rotation than non-permanent employees. The differences that we observe between part-time employees and full-time employees are not significant. The self-employed show low levels of task rotation and/or task flexibility. We could have assumed that their jobs were more skilful to start with and there is less need for task flexibility, but this was just contradicted in the previous table, in any case for the part-time self-employed without personnel. Involvement in task rotation has decreased between 1996 and 2000 for all groups.

	Perma		Non-perr contr			Self-em (without p		Total
	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-	time	Full-time	Part-time	
Does your work involve: (% 'no')								
 meeting quality standards 	27.9	24.2	31.1	41.	4	33.5	43.9	30.9
 quality assessment 	24.2	24.8	30.1	33.	.9	17.6	20.2	24.6
 solving problems 	16.4	19.1	24.7	26.	4	7.9	12.7	17.2
– no monotonous tasks	38.7	38.8	46.9	42.	.6	46.9	45.1	40.1
 complex tasks 	38.6	52.5	47.2	63.	0	50.1	60.4	44.5
 learning new things 	24.7	25.6	32.2	31.	.6	35.4	45.1	27.5
Lack of skills low-skilled work/								
more correct (scale scores,								
range 0-100; + higher score than								
the average, - lower than average)								
1996	24.1 -	30.1 +	31.0 +	35.	1 +	27.8	28.5	26.5
2000	26.4 -	32.0 +	31.6 +	39.	5 +	28.8	36.8 +	28.9
	non-per	manent – pe	rmanent			par	t-time – full-	time
Lack of skills	1996		2000			1996		2000
Tested difference in scale scores								
(+ positive; - negative;								
ns = not significant)	+		+			+		+

Table 12 Employment status and skills development

	Perma			permanent ontract	:	Self-em (without p			Total
	Full-time	Part-tir	ne Full-tim	e Part-	time	Full-time	Part-	time	
Does your work involve task rotation? (% 'no'; + higher percentage than the average,									
- lower than average) 1996	38.3 -	38.9	42.8	42	.9	84.8	84.	4 +	42.7
2000	51.7 -	51.0	- 52.0	56	.2	92.2 +	94.	7 +	55.9
	non-per	manent -	permanent	I		par	t-time -	- full-ti	me
No task rotation Tested difference in scale scores (+ positive; - negative; ns = not significant)	+		2000			1996 ns			2000 ns
Less task flexibility (scale scores, range 0-100; + higher score than the average, - lower than average) 2000	44.2 -	45.3	- 44.3	. 49	7	90.8 +	92	5 +	49.2
2000			permanent	-7	.,		t-time -		
Less task flexibility Tested difference in scale scores	1996		2000			1996			2000
(+ positive; - negative; ns = not significant)	not available		ns			not available			ns

Table 13 Employment status and task rotation

Table 14 shows the match between personal ability and the level of skill demands. The group that report that the demands are too high have increased. There are two groups that report higher demands more than others; the non-permanent employees that work part-time and the self-employed without personnel that work full-time. Overall the differences between permanent and non-permanent employees and between part-timers and full-timers are not significant.

The groups that report that the demands are too low has been stable between 1996 and 2000. Here, the differences between permanent and non-permanent employees are significant: employees working in non-permanent contracts, and in particular the part-time employees, more often work in jobs where the demands are too low and which are not challenging. Remarkably, a high percentage of self-employed without personnel that work full-time report that the demands are too low (almost the same percentage that report the demands to be too high: 35%).

Finally, we have information about the number of days of training that people have received, provided by the employer (table 15 shows the percentages of employees that had no training). The number of days of training has increased slightly between 1996 and 2000. As we would expect, employees working full-time in a permanent contract received more training than employees with non-permanent contracts. Also, in 2000 full-time employees have received more training than part-time employees. The self-employed without personnel have had the least days of training, which cannot be found strange if they have to pay for it themselves.

		anent tract		Non-pern contr			Self-em (without p		el)	Total
	Full-time	Part-t	ime	Full-time	Part-t	ime	Full-time	Part-ti	me	
Do your skills match the demands										
of your work? (% 'yes')										
 the demands are too high 										
1996	19.0 -	20.4	1	27.5	31.	4	28.2	34.3		21.5
2000	23.9	17.3	3 -	28.2	35.	5 +	35.8	13.5		24.3
	non-per	manent	– per	manent			part-time – fu		ne – full-time	
Demands too high	1996			2000			1996		200	
Tested difference in scale scores										
(+ positive; - negative;										
ns = not significant)	+			ns			ns			ns
Does your skills match the										
demands of your work? (% 'yes')										
- the demands are to low										
1996	20.0 -	23.7	7	31.8	38.	0	29.0	38.9		24.0
2000	22.4	20.2	2	32.7	43.	2 +	34.8 +	16.9		24.1
	non-permanent – permanent part-time		t-time –	full-ti	me					
Demands too low	1996			2000			1996			2000
Tested difference in scale scores										
+ positive; - negative;										
ns = not significant)	+			+			ns			ns

Table 14 Employment status and level of skills demands

Table 15 Employment status and training to improve skills

	Perma cont		Non-perr contr			Self-em (without p	Total	
	Full-time	Part-tim	e Full-time	Part-t	ime	Full-time	Part-ti	ne
Did you receive training paid for or provided by the employer in the last 12 months? (% 'no') 1996 2000	63.5 - 61.9 -	65.3 - 66.3	78.5 + 68.9	78. 73.	• •	92.2 + 84.3 +	88.1 88.7	
	non-per	manent -	permanent			par	t-time – 1	full-time
No training Tested difference in scale scores (+ positive; - negative;	1996		2000	1996			2000	
ns = not significant)	+		+			ns		+

Social support or consultation

A last indicator of the conditions of employment relates to the participation of workers at the workplace in consultation and information. We do have information on social support, which includes consultation with colleagues and bosses. This is a new scale, so we cannot compare this with the previous survey. What is surprising is that there are no significant differences between permanent and non-permanent workers and between part-timers and full-timers. There is, however, a difference between employees and self-employed without personnel, the last group having less social support, as their name might suggest.

		Permanent contract		ermanent ntract		Self-em (without p		Total	
	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-t	ime	Full-time	Part-time	9	
Do you receive assistance from									
colleagues? (% 'no')									
1996	8.3 -	10.0 -	9.2 -	11.8	в	60.8 +	57.5 +	13.0	
2000	9.8 -	12.2 -	10.1 -	12.4	4 -	75.0 +	79.4 +	16.9	
	non-per	manent – pe	ermanent			par	t-time – fu	II-time	
No assistance from colleagues Tested difference in scale scores (+ positive; - negative;	1996		2000			1996		2000	
ns = not significant)	ns		ns			ns		ns	
Less social support (scale scores, range 0-100; + higher score than the average, - lower than average)									
2000	41.0 -	41.3	41.0	41.1	1	46.5 +	48.2 +	41.6	
	non-per	manent – pe	ermanent			par	t-time – fu	II-time	
Less social support Tested difference in scale scores (+ positive; - negative;	1996		2000			1996		2000	
ns = not significant)	not available		ns		r	not available		ns	

Table 16 Employment status and social support

Third scenario: intensification of work (job demands and job control)

In this section we will look at two dimensions of intensification of work: psycho-social job demands and job control. In theory, a balanced or unbalanced combination of both dimensions will either lead to active jobs or to high strain jobs (Karasek, 1991 and 1998). Therefore, we will also look at the combination of the two dimensions.

Analysing the Second survey on working conditions, Letourneux found that the psycho-social job demands were very high for all groups of employees (Letourneux, 1999a). Work at high speed was more the case for fixed-term contracts, while work at very tight and short deadlines was more the lot of employees on permanent contracts. Letourneux also found that employees in non-permanent contracts had less personal freedom to change their working speed, adapt their methods or even change the order in which they perform tasks.

In this section we will see if this is still the case in 2000. However, we will not only make a distinction between permanent and non-permanent contracts, but also between part-time and full-time contracts.

Psycho-social job demands

We will first look at the job demands. Overall job demands have become higher between 1996 and 2000. This is the case for all groups (see table 17). Job demands are the highest for full-time employees (both permanent and non-permanent). If we look at the different items we see that the speed of work is the highest for full-time non-permanent employees and that full-time permanent employees work most at very tight deadlines, as was found on the basis of the Second survey.

Job demands of the self-employed without personnel are less high than those of these two groups of employees. Job demands of non-permanent employees are (significantly) less high then those of the permanent employees. The differences between part-time and full-time employees are also significant: part-time employees face less psycho-social job demands.

		Permanent contract		manent ract		Self-employed (without personnel)		Total
	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-	time	Full-time	Part-time	
Does you work entail								
(for at least 1/4 of working time):								
(% 'yes')								
Very tight and very short deadlines	62.2	50.6	58.3	45.	1	58.6	51.3	57.7
High speed work	61.8	55.9	63.0	52.	0	52.6	47.1	59.2
High Job demands (scale scores,								
range 0-100; + higher score than								
the average, - lower than average)								
1996	33.4 +	27.5 -	33.3	26.	0 -	26.2 -	23.0 -	31.4
2000	34.5 +	30.6 -	34.8	28.	1 -	28.3 -	26.4 -	32.8
	non-per	non-permanent – perm				par	t-time – full	-time
High job demands	1996		2000			1996		2000
Tested difference in scale scores								
+ positive; - negative;								
ns = not significant)	-		-			-		-

Table 17 Employment status and psycho-social job demands

Job control

Table 18 Employment status and autonomy at work

	Permanent contract		Non-perr contr			Self-employed (without personnel)		Total I)
	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-ti	ime	Full-time	Part-time	
Are you able to choose or								
change: (% 'no')								
 the order of tasks 	35.4	34.2	47.2	44.8	3	13.0	13.7	34.2
 the methods of work 	32.2	30.3	43.4	37.7	7	12.0	11.9	30.8
 the speed of your work 	32.8	31.6	40.4	35.1	1	11.9	10.4	31.1
Low job control <i>(scale scores,</i>								
range 0-100; + higher score than								
the average, - lower than average)								
1996	32.0 +	28.3	39.2 +	36.8	3 +	10.9 -	11.4 -	30.4
2000	33.6 +	32.0	43.7 +	39.3	3 +	12.4 -	12.1 -	32.1
	non-per	manent – pe	rmanent			par	t-time – ful	II-time
Low job control	1996		2000			1996		2000
Tested difference in scale scores								
(+ positive; - negative;								
ns = not significant)	+		+			ns		ns

As we have mentioned, high job demands can be balanced with high job control in order to prevent stress at work. Table 18 shows the levels of low job control for the different employment statuses. As we can see the increase in high job demands has been followed with an increase in job control. There are no significant differences between part-time and full-time employees in job control. There are, however significant differences between permanent and non-permanent employees.

Non-permanent employees have less control over the order of tasks, the method of work or the speed of their work. Self-employed have higher job control.

Combination of demands and control

The combination of these two dimensions (job demands and job control) can be seen as an indicator for active versus passive work (high demands and high control = active work; low demands and low control = passive work) or as an indicator for low strain versus high strain work (low demands, high control = low strain; high demands, low control = high strain). These are the four dimensions from the Karasek model (Karasek et al, 1991, 1998).

1 5	· , · · · · · ·	, ,	
	Permanent	Non-permanent	Self-employe

Employment status and job control and job demand (2000)

	Perma	Permanent contract		Non-permanent contract		Self-employed (without personnel)	
	cont						
	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-time	Full-time	Part-time	
Combination of job demands							
and job control (column %)							
Low demands, high control							
(low strain work)	24.8	31.0	20.4	26.4	46.8	48.3	28.0
Low demands, low control							
(passive work)	24.3	25.4	29.6	33.8	11.3	11.1	24.0
High demands, high control							
(active work)	24.9	20.5	17.7	16.4	33.4	33.4	24.0
High demands, low control							
(high strain work)	26.1	23.2	32.3	23.5	8.5	7.2	24.0
	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%

When we look at table 19, we can see that that full-time employees with a non-permanent contract have a relatively high percentage of high strain jobs, next to a relatively high percentage of passive jobs. The self-employed on the other hand, have a high percentage of low strain jobs and of active jobs. Part-time employees with a non-permanent job have a relatively high percentage of passive jobs, while part-time employees in a permanent contract have a relatively high percentage of low strain jobs.

Conclusion

Table 19

In this chapter we have analysed the possible relationship between employment status and working conditions, by discussing the different risks and looking at the differences between permanent and non-permanent employees, between part-time employees and full-time employees and between employees and self-employed without personnel. We did not include any other variables in our analysis, nor did we look at possible combinations of risks. This will be done in the next chapter. In this chapter we have discussed three possible scenarios:

- 1. unfavourable conditions of work are being transferred to flexible workers;
- 2. the gap between permanent and non-permanent workers develops in the field of the conditions of employment;
- 3. intensification of work and high job demands have a greater impact on non flexible workers.

We find little evidence for scenario 1 and the hypothesis that dangerous work situations are transferred to non-permanent workers. The differences between permanent and non-permanent workers has decreased, with a deterioration of the situation of the permanent employees. We do, however, still find that ergonomically poor jobs are more often performed by non-permanent employees working full-time and self-employed (both full-time and part-time). Part-time workers are less exposed to physical hazards than full-time workers.

We can summarise the main findings in the relationship between employment status and conditions of work (physical hazards and harassment at work):

- The differences in working under physical hazards such as vibrations, noise and temperatures between permanent and non-permanent employees have decreased. Differences between permanent and non-permanent employees are not significant. Full-time employees are significantly more often exposed to these conditions than part-time employees. Employees with non-permanent contracts are less well informed about these risks than permanent employees.
- For the total population there has been an increase in musculoskeletal job demands or unfavourable ergonomic conditions. These increases can mainly been found among the employees with a permanent contract. This means that the differences between groups of employment status have decreased. But, the self-employed without personnel and the employees with a non-permanent contract are more exposed to unfavourable ergonomic conditions than the employees with a permanent contract. Here also, full-timers are more exposed to these conditions than part-timers.
- There seems to have been an increase in harassment or discrimination at work for full-time employees with a non-permanent contract. Differences between groups in the two samples are not consistent between the two surveys.

Figure 20 Employment status and conditions of work (scales, 2000) (self-employed excluding small employers)



If we look at scenario 2, we find evidence for most of our hypotheses. Non-permanent employees work more over weekends than permanent employees and have less control over working time. They also have less secure income, perform less skilled work and/or have less access to training. Having a non-permanent contract and a part-time contract worsens this situation. There is no difference in social support between permanent and non-permanent workers. The self-employed have less social support, work more over weekends and at non-standard working hours, but have more control over their working time.



Figure 21 Employment status and working time (scales, 2000; excluding small employers)

We can summarise the main findings in the relationship between employment status and conditions of work as follows (working time, task flexibility, skills development):

- More than 50% of full-time self-employed work over weekends and more than 40% of part-time self-employed. Non-permanent employees work more over weekends than permanent employees. Only 21-22% of the employees with a permanent contract work weekends. There has been no increase in weekend work for all workers. Self-employed without personnel also work longer days more often, that is they work more times a month more than 10 hours a day then all categories of employees.
- The self-employed hardly ever work in shifts. The full-time employees with a non-permanent contract work most in shifts.
- Part-time employees with a permanent contract and part-time self-employed without personnel are the most satisfied with their hours of work (more than 70% would like to work the same number of hours). The self-employed without personnel that work full-time are the least satisfied: over 50% of them would like to work fewer hours. On the other hand, over 40% of the part-time employees with a non-permanent contract are not satisfied, because they would like to work more hours.

- There is a big difference in control over working time between employment statuses: the selfemployed have most control over their working time, the employees with a non-permanent contract the least. Of employees with a permanent contract, the part-time employees have less control over their working time than the full-time employees.
- Employees with non-permanent contracts have less fixed salary than employees with a permanent contract. The percentage of employees with no fixed salary is highest among the part-time employees with a non-permanent contract. The total percentage of employees with no fixed salary has been stable over the years, although the differences between permanent and non-permanent contracts have decreased slightly.
- There are no significant differences in task rotation between permanent and non-permanent employees and between part-time and full-time employees. There is, however, a difference between employees and self-employed. Less than 10% of the self-employed report task rotations, which is even less than in the previous survey. Also, for the employees, the percentage of employees that report task rotation has decreased.
- Non-permanent employees perform tasks with less skills involved in the job (lack of skills), than
 permanent employees and part-time workers perform tasks with less skills involved than fulltime employees.
- There are two groups that report higher skills demands more than others, the non-permanent employees that work part-time and the self-employed without personnel that work full-time. Overall the differences between permanent and non-permanent employees and between parttimers and full-timers are not significant.
- The groups that report that skills demands are too low has been stable between 1996 and 2000. Here, the differences between permanent and non-permanent employees are significant: employees working in non-permanent contracts, and in particular the part-time employees, more often work in jobs where skills demands are too low, and which are not challenging. Remarkably, also a high percentage of self-employed without personnel that work full-time report that skills demands are too low (almost the same percentage that report the demands to be too high: 35%).
- Less than 40% of all workers have received training paid for or provided by their employers in the past 12 months: employees with a permanent contract more than employees with a nonpermanent contract, and full-time employees more than part-time employees. The percentage of employees that have received training has increased slightly, in particular within the group of full-time non-permanent workers and full-time self-employed, but also within the group of parttime non-permanent workers.
- There are no significant differences between permanent and non-permanent workers and between part-timers and full-timers with regard to social support. There is, however, a difference between employees and self-employed without personnel, the last group having less social support, as their name might suggest.

At first glance, we seem to find evidence for *scenario 3*: permanent employees face higher job demands than non-permanent workers and full-time employees face higher job demands than parttime employees. If we consider the thought that work stress is a result of unbalanced job demands versus job control, the picture is slightly different. In particular the non-permanent employees have less job control. So, at a second glance, we do not find evidence for the third scenario. Job demands have increased for all, and if we also look at job control as a way of coping with high demands, it may be that the consequences of intensification can be experienced more by non-permanent employees since they have less job control. When we look at the combination of job control and job demands, we see a relatively high percentage of high strain jobs for the full-time workers with a non-permanent contract.



Figure 22 Employment status and skills development (scales, 2000; excluding small employers)

We can summarise the main findings in the relationship between employment status and job demands and job control:

- There has been an increase in high job demands for all groups of workers. The job demands of non-permanent employees are (significantly) less high then those of the permanent employees. Part-time employees face lower job demands, but part-time employees with a permanent contract face slightly higher demands than part-time employees with a non-permanent contract. The self-employed have lower job demands than the employees with a full-time permanent contract.
- There has also been an increase in job control for all groups of workers. Here there is a difference between permanent and non-permanent employees. All non-permanent employees (both full-time and part-time) face lower job control. The self-employed have higher job control.
- The full-time employees with a non-permanent contract have a relatively high percentage of high strain jobs, next to a relatively high percentage of passive jobs. The self-employed on the other hand, have a high percentage of low strain jobs and of active jobs. The part-time employees with a non-permanent job have a relatively high percentage of passive jobs, while the part-time employees in a permanent contract have a relatively high percentage of low strain jobs.



Figure 23 Employment status, job demands and job control (scales, 2000; excluding small employers)

Table 20Summary of the significant differences in working conditions between permanent
and non-permanent workers and between part-time and full-time workers

	Non-permaner	it – permanent	Part-time –	full-time
	1996	2000	1996	2000
Working conditions:				
scales:				
Unfavourable ambient conditions	ns	ns	-	-
Unfavourable ergonomic conditions	+	+	-	-
Harassment/discrimination (ns = not significent)	+	+	ns	
Employment conditions:				
scales:				
Work over weekends	+	+	ns	ns
Non-standard hours	not available	ns	not available	-
Shift work	not available	ns	not available	ns
Low time control	not available	+	not available	+
No basic fixed salary	+	+	ns	ns
Less skills required	+	+	+	+
Less task rotation	+	+	ns	ns
Less task flexibility	not available	ns	not available	ns
Demands too high	+	ns	ns	ns
Demands too low	+	+	ns	ns
No training	+	+	ns	+
Less assistance from colleagues	ns	ns	ns	ns
Less social support	not available	ns	not available	ns
Intensification of work:				
scales:				
High psycho-social job demands	-	-	-	-
Low job control	+	+	ns	ns

(univariate analysis; + = positive relationship; - = negative relationship)

Table 20 summarises the results of the analysis in this chapter. A plus (+) in the table means that the non-permanent (or the part-time) employees are exposed more to the condition than the permanent (or full-time) employees. A minus (-) means that they are exposed less. In the next chapter we analyse which of the findings will hold when structural and individual characteristics are taken into account.

The impact of employment status on working conditions

In this section we will continue with multivariate analyses, only looking at the available scales used in the previous chapter.

We will analyse the characteristics and working conditions of different types of employment status in different steps. We will look at the relationship between employment status and:

- conditions of work (the practical conditions under which people work and cope with a specific technical and organisational environment): step 1;
- conditions of employment (the rules and status under which people are employed, trained and paid): step 2⁵;
- structural characteristics (sector and occupation): step 3;
- conditions of work, conditions of employment and structural characteristics: step 4;
- conditions of work, conditions of employment, structural and individual characteristics (gender and age): step 5.

The explained variance (R2) of these different steps will show the importance of the different aspects in our analytical model. Also these analyses will show if the relationships found in the previous chapter are still valid when the structural or individual characteristics are taken into account. A positive number in the tables means a positive relationship between the specific condition and the employment status. A number below zero will mean that we have found a negative relationship. We will do this analysis for non-permanent employment contracts, for part-time employment and for the self-employed without personnel.

Non-permanent contracts

In this first section we will analyse the characteristics of non-permanent employees and by doing this we will answer the question if this group of workers stands out for its bad working conditions or not, and if so whether this is also true when the structural and individual characteristics of the non-permanent employees are taken into account.

Table 21 shows the results of the different steps taken. First of all, we can see that the total explained variance is very small in the first three steps. Only when the individual characteristics are taken into account we gain a R2 of 15%. If we only look at the first two steps, we can see that the conditions of work are even less important than the conditions of employment, based on the explained variance. This is in line with what we found in the previous chapter.

⁵ In order to reduce the number of steps, we have divided the two dimensions of the third scenario between the first two steps, seeing job demands as an aspect of conditions of work and job control as an aspect of conditions of employment.

Table 21Multivariate analyses with regard to non-permanent contracts (linear regression,
stepwise, dependent variable belongs to the group of non-permanent employees)

	step 1	step 2	step 3	step 4	step 5
Conditions of work					
unfavourable ambient	02			ns	
unfavourable ergonomic	.04			ns	
emotional demands	.02			ns	
high job demands	02			ns	
Conditions of employment					
low job control		.02		.04	.02
non-standard hours		ns			
shifts		ns			
low time control		.08		.07	.07
low skills		.06		.05	.05
training		ns			
low task flexibility		ns			
low social support		02		02	ns
Sector					
agricultural			ns		
manufacture			ns		
public utilities			ns		
construction			.03	.03	.03
sales			.03	ns	
hotel/restaurant			.07	.06	ns
transport			ns		
finance			ns		
real estate			.04	.05	.04
public services			ns		
social sector			.08	.09	.09
Occupation					
managers			04	02	ns
professionals			ns		
technicians			ns		
clerks			ns		
service/sales			ns		
agriculture/fishing			.03	.03	.03
craft/trade			ns		
operators			ns		
elementary			.05	.03	.03
Individual characteristics					
gender (female)					ns
age					18
 R2	.001	.013	.013	.024	.150

When we look at the last step we can see that employees with a non-permanent contract have the following characteristics:

- younger workers;
- working in jobs with less job control;
- working in jobs with less time control;
- working in less skilled jobs;
- working in construction, real estate or social sector;
- working in agricultural occupations or elementary occupations.

This implies that non-permanent contracts are not characterised by their bad conditions of work. As we saw in the last chapter, there was no significant difference between permanent and nonpermanent contracts with regard to ambient conditions and the differences in emotional demands were not so clear. But now we can add that also the more unfavourable in ergonomic conditions that we found and the lower psycho-social job demands, can be better explained by the structural characteristics than by the non-permanent employment status.

Non-permanent contracts can be characterised by some aspects of the conditions of employment (although the explained variance is very low): by having less control over the job and less control over the working time. Differences in social support are no longer significant, when individual characteristics are taken into account. There are no significant differences in the actual working hours (standard or non-standard). Also, employees with non-permanent contracts are allocated to less skilful jobs. This could be explained by the fact that these employees are younger, so we did some additional analysis to see the differences between different age groups (see table 22). Based on this analysis we can conclude that only employees with a non-permanent contract over 26 years of age have less job control than the permanent employees in the same age group. All non-permanent employees have less time control. Only the non-permanent employees under 35 years of age have less skilled jobs than the permanent employees in the same age group.

	15-25 years	26-35 years	>35 years
Background			
gender	ns	ns	.04
Job demands job control			
less job control	ns	.04	.03
Employment conditions			
less time control	.08	.07	.04
less skills	.06	.06	ns
less social support	ns	ns	ns
Sector			
construction	ns	ns	.05
hotels/restaurants	ns	ns	.05
real estate	ns	.04	.04
social	.11	.10	.08
dof			
agriculture/fishing	ns	ns	.04
elementary	ns	ns	.05
R2	.022	.027	.021

Table 22 Multivariate analyses with regard to non-permanent contracts, by age group

Part-time employment

The second aspect of employment status that we will analyse is part-time employment. We will look at the characteristics of part-time employees as opposed to full-time employees (table 23). The total explained variance is the same as in the previous section, 15% in step 6. When we look at the first two steps we see that the conditions of work are a bit more important then the conditions of employment. However, some of the aspects of conditions of work are explained better by sector and occupation than by part-time employment. When we look at the last step we can see that employees with a part-time contract have the following characteristics:

- female workers;
- working with more favourable ambient conditions;
- working less at non-standard hours;
- less control over working time;
- less skilful work;
- less training;
- working in social sector and hotel/restaurant, and not in construction;
- working in service/sales occupations and not as managers.

The more unfavourable ergonomic conditions for part-time employees that we found in the previous chapter can be explained by structural and individual characteristics and are not due to part-time employment. Also the low psycho-social job demands are no longer significant when structural characteristics are taken into account. This means that part-time contracts can be characterised by their favourable ambient conditions, but do not differ from full-time contracts in the other aspects of conditions of work.

Part-time contracts can be characterised by some unfavourable conditions of employment, for example, less skilful jobs, less training and less time control. Differences in job control can be explained by the structural characteristics of the job.

Self-employed without personnel

Finally we will look at the characteristics of the self-employed without personnel as opposed to employees (table 24 on p.52). The explained variance is higher than in the previous two sections. The total explained variance in the last step is 34%. When we look at the first two steps, we see that the conditions of work do not explain much of the difference between self-employed without personnel and employees, but the conditions of employment do, even more than the structural characteristics.

When we look at the last step we can see that the majority of self-employed without personnel have the following characteristics:

- male workers;
- older workers;
- working in more unfavourable ergonomic conditions;
- having less psycho-social job demands;
- working more at non-standard hours, but less in shifts;
- having more time control;

- having more job control;
- having less training;
- having less task flexibility;
- having less social support;
- working in agriculture, sales, hotel/restaurants and not in public utilities and public service;
- working as managers, in service/sales occupations and in crafts.

Table 23Multivariate analyses with regard to part-time employees (Linear regression,
dependent variable belonging to the group of part-time employees)

	step 1	step 2	step 3	step 4	step 5
Background		-	-	-	
Conditions of work					
unfavourable ambient	16			06	03
unfavourable ergonomic	.04			.03	
emotional demands	.04			ns	
high psycho-social job demands	05			ns	
Conditions of employment					
less job control		06		ns	
non-standard hours		06		09	06
shifts		ns			
less time control		.06		.02	.02
less skills		.11		.06	.05
training		03		05	05
less task flexibility		ns			
less social support		ns			
Sector					
agricultural			ns		
manufacture			ns		
public utilities			ns		
construction			03	04	03
sales			.03	ns	
hotel/restaurant			.06	.06	.05
transport			ns		
finance			ns		
real estate			ns		
public services			ns		
social sector			.22	.22	.17
Occupation					
managers			08	07	05
professionals			ns		
technicians			ns		
clerks			ns		
service/sales			.03	.03	.06
agriculture/fishing			ns		
craft/trade			09	10	
operators			ns		
elementary			ns		
Individual characteristics					
gender (female)					.24
age					ns
R2	.026	.019	.086	.109	.150

Table 24Multivariate analyses with regard to self-employed without personnel (Linear
regression, dependent variable belonging to the group of self-employed without
personnel)

	step 1	step 2	step 3	step 4	step 5
Conditions of work					
unfavourable ambient	03			ns	
unfavourable ergonomic	.09			.07	.07
emotional demands	04			02	ns
high job demands	07			04	04
Conditions of employment					
less job control		07		06	05
non-standard hours		.30		.28	.23
shifts		09		07	07
less time control		21		22	19
less skills		ns			
training		09		10	08
less task flexibility		.24		.26	.23
less social support		.13		.10	.13
sector					
agricultural			.08	.05	.02
manufacture			05	02	ns
public utilities			02	05	03
construction			.02	ns	
sales			.15	.08	.07
hotel/restaurant			.03	.05	.05
transport			ns		
finance			ns		
real estate			.04	ns	ns
public services			06	05	03
social sector			.04	.04	ns
Occupation					
managers			.19	.11	.09
professionals			ns		
technicians			ns		
clerks			07	05	ns
service/sales			.06	.06	.07
agriculture/fishing			.19	ns	ns
craft/trade			.03	.03	.07
operators			03	ns	
elementary			04	.02	ns
Background					
gender (male)					.02
age					.06
R2	.011	.310	.156	.310	.339

The picture of the self-employed without personnel is definitely not one-dimensional. Even when structural characteristics are taken into account they perform work under more unfavourable ergonomic conditions. On the other hand do they have less psycho-social job demands. The other differences in working conditions can be explained by structural and/or individual characteristics. They work more at non-standard hours, have less training, less task flexibility and less social support, which is directly due to the characteristics of their employment status. But they do have more control over their time and their job.

Conclusion

Based on the Second survey Letourneux concluded that structural characteristics were more important in explaining employment status than working conditions. Letourneux points out that 'it would therefore seem that the relationship observed between employment status and working conditions is primarily due to the fact that jobs involving difficult working conditions are occupied more by workers on precarious contracts of employment.' The term 'precarious employment' in her report stands for our term 'non-permanent contracts'. However, she shows that there remain significant relationships between working conditions and employment status (after taking into account structural characteristics). So, 'while the relationship is undoubtedly not as strong, there seems to be a clear cut link between employees' precarious status and poorer quality working conditions'.

On the basis of our analyses in this chapter we can partly subscribe these results, but we can also give a more nuanced picture of the relationship, as we have looked at two dimensions of employment status and at two dimensions of working conditions. Table 25 on the next page gives the results of the multivariate analyses, before and after taking into account the structural and individual characteristics.

We will now summarise the main findings of this chapter for the non-permanent contracts, parttime employed and self-employed without personnel:

- The analyses can hardly explain the differences between permanent and non-permanent contracts on the basis of working conditions (0.1% and 1%). There is no significant relationship between non-permanent contracts versus permanent contracts and conditions of work (scenario 1). There is, however, a weak but significant relationship between having a non-permanent contract and low time control and lack of skills (scenario 2). There is also a significant relationship between having a non-permanent contract and low job control (scenario 3). As we had expected, there are no advantages found in having a non-permanent contract.
- Some of the differences that we found can be better explained by the structural characteristics, but more important are the individual characteristics: non-permanent employees are younger than permanent employees (total explained variance 15%). Non-permanent contracts are not characterised by the gender dimension. Overall, when other aspects are taken into account, there is no difference between men and women in the chances of having a non-permanent contract. Only when we look at different age groups, we see that older women are more likely to have a non-permanent contract than older men.
- This implies that non-permanent contracts are not characterised by their bad conditions of work. As we did see in the last chapter, there was no significant difference between permanent and non-permanent contracts with regard to ambient conditions and the differences in

emotional demands were not so clear. But now we can add that also the differences in ergonomic conditions and in psycho-social job demands that we found can be better explained by the structural characteristics than by non-permanent employment status.

	Unfavourable conditions	Favourable conditions	R2
Non-permanent contracts:	Young workers (male and female)	female workers age 35+	
excl. structural/individual	- ergonomic conditions	- ambient conditions	Conditions of work: .001
characteristics	- discrimination	– Iow job demands	
	– low job control	 social support 	Conditions of
	- low time control		employment: .01
	– no skills		
incl. structural/individual	– low job control	– none	Total: .15
characteristics	- low time control		
	– no skills		
Part-time contracts:	Female workers; all age groups		
excl. structural/individual	 ergonomic conditions 	- ambient conditions	Conditions of work: .03
characteristics	- discrimination	– Iow job demands	
	 low time control 	– high job control	Conditions of
	– no skills	- less non-standard hours	employment: .02
	– no training		
incl. structural/individual	 low time control 	 ambient conditions 	Total: .15
characteristics	– no skills	- less non-standard hours	
	– no training		
Self-employed without	Male workers; older workers		
personnel:			
excl. structural/individual	 ergonomic conditions 	 ambient conditions 	Conditions of work: .01
characteristics	 non-standard hours 	- no discrimination	
	 no task flexibility 	 low job demands 	Conditions of
	 no social support 	– high job control	employment: .31
	– no training	– no shifts	
		 high time control 	
incl. structural/individual	 ergonomic conditions 	- low job demands	Total: .34
characteristics	 non-standard hours 	– high job control	
	– no task flexibility	 high time control 	
	 no social support 	– no shifts	
	– no training		

Table 25Summary of the multivariate analyses on relationship between employment statusand working conditions

- Non-permanent contracts can be characterised by some aspects of the conditions of employment: by having less control over the job and less control over the working time, although the explained variance is weak. There are no significant differences in the actual working hours (standard or non-standard). Also, employees with non-permanent contracts are allocated less skilful jobs.
- The total explained variance of the difference between full-time and part-time employment is the same (15%). After taking into account structural and individual characteristics, part-time workers are less exposed to unfavourable ambient conditions (scenario 1). They work less at non-standard hours, and have less control over their working hours, they perform tasks with less skills involved, and have less training (scenario 2). The differences that we find in psychosocial job demands and job control, are explained by the structural characteristics of the job (scenario 3).
- The more unfavourable ergonomic conditions for part-time employees that we found in the previous chapter can be explained by individual characteristics and are not due to part-time

employment. Also the low psycho-social job demands are no longer significant when structural characteristics are taken into account. This means that part-time contracts can be characterised by their favourable ambient conditions, but do not differ from full-time contracts in the other aspects of conditions of work.

- Part-time contracts can be characterised by some unfavourable conditions of employment, for example less skilful jobs and training. They do work less at non-standard hours, but also have less time control.
- There is a gender dimension with regard to having a part-time contract: women are more likely to have a part-time contract than men. There are no differences for the different age groups.
- The analyses give a stronger explanation of being self-employed: total R2 is .34. Here, in particular, the conditions of employment add a lot to the model (31%). The self-employed face worse ergonomic conditions than the employees (scenario 1). They work more at non-standard hours, but less in shifts and have higher time control. They have less task flexibility and less social support, and also less training (scenario 2). Self-employed are less confronted with low job demands and have higher job control than employees (scenario 3).
- The picture of the self-employed without personnel is definitely not one dimensional. Even when structural characteristics are taken into account they perform work under more unfavourable ergonomic conditions. On the other hand, they do have less psycho-social job demands. The differences in emotional job demands can be explained by individual characteristics and the differences in ambient conditions by the structural characteristics.
- They work more at non-standard hours and less in shifts, have less training, less task flexibility
 and less social support, which is directly due to the characteristics of their employment status.
 But they do have more control over their time and their job.
- When we look at the individual characteristics, the self-employed are more likely to be male and are older than the employees.

Summary and conclusions

In the 1980s and 1990s there was a change in employment relations. While in most countries the full-time job with a permanent contract has become less important, on the other hand, there has been an increase in part-time jobs, in non-permanent jobs and in self-employment. Work organisations change more rapidly and employment relations have become more flexible. This trend is not without its consequences for the employees involved. Many of these new jobs have been called 'precarious' and several sources have concluded that the working conditions of the workers with a fixed term or temporary agency contract were worse than those of the permanent workers (Letourneux, 1998; Benach and Benavides, 1999; OECD 1997 and 2000; Goudswaard and de Nanteuil, 2000; Dhondt et al 2001). Traditional prevention systems in the field of occupational safety and health may not be sufficient to protect these non-permanent workers. Although some of the traditional risks may have become less important, working conditions on the whole do not seem to have improved (Merlie and Paoli, 2000), and new risks have emerged, such as ergonomical problems and work pressure.

Results from the Foundation's Third European survey on working conditions have been used in this report to analyse the changes in employment relations between 1996 and 2000 and to examine the relationship between employment status and working conditions.

The concept of *employment status* is two-dimensional. On the one hand, we have divided two types of employment contracts: permanent or open-ended contracts versus non-permanent contracts (fixed term, temporary, seasonal contracts). On the other hand, we have divided between full-time (>35 hours) and part-time employees (10-35 hours). These two dimensions are linked together, with a higher proportion of part-time jobs with non-permanent contracts. In some situations, the combination of both a non-permanent contract and a part-time contract may lead to a cumulative situation in terms of working conditions. In other situations, however, it will have the opposite effect. We not only looked at the employees, but also at the self-employed without personnel, since the distinction between employees and these groups of self-employed have become slight (OECD, 2000).

The concept of *working conditions* is also two-dimensional. In the first place we have analysed the conditions of work, describing the practical conditions under which people work and cope with a specific technical and organisational environment. In the second place, we have analysed the conditions of employment, describing the rules and status under which people are employed, trained and paid. We analysed three possible scenarios for the relationship between employment status and working conditions:

- 1. In the first scenario, the exposure to risk is shifted to the external, flexible workers or subcontractors. These are the people who do the dirtiest, the most dangerous and the most monotonous jobs under relatively poor ergonomic conditions. They are not as well protected as permanent employees since they often fall outside the jurisdiction of committees that monitor working conditions or labour unions.
- 2. In the second scenario, there is no difference in actual conditions of work, but a gap does develop between permanent and non-permanent workers, or full-timers and part-timers, in terms of job security, access to training, career prospects and remuneration. The flexible workers get assigned the least favourable work times and have little opportunity to improve themselves.

3. The third scenario does not involve the flexible workers or part-timers, but a company's own, permanent employees. Due to the intensification of work, and a higher internal flexibility, these employees are put under more pressure.

Employment status is not the only variable that may lead to poor working conditions, and will certainly not always directly lead to poor working conditions. The structural characteristics of the job and even some individual characteristics will also be important in explaining working conditions. That is why in the preceding chapter multivariate analyses were carried out taking into account several structural and individual characteristics.

On the basis of the comparison between the Second and Third European survey on working conditions, we can conclude that there has been no further growth of non-permanent contracts in the EU. On the whole, the percentage of non-permanent contracts among employees has decreased from 15% in 1996 to 13% in 2000. If we only consider newcomers in jobs, the share of non-permanent contracts is more important, but here we also see a decrease: in 2000 the majority of employees had started a job with a permanent contract, which was not the case in 1996. The growth in part-time employed has continued; the percentage of part-time jobs among all employees has grown from 22% in 1996 to 28% in 2000. There has also been a slight increase in the percentage of self-employed without personnel versus employees (from 9% in 1996 to 10% in 2000).

There appears to have been a shift in employment status of employees, with a decrease in the share of non-permanent contracts and an increase in the share of part-time permanent contracts. This shift can be found for both men and women and for all age groups. Although there are large differences between sectors and occupation, the decrease of non-permanent contracts and the increase of part-time employment can be found everywhere. A possible explanation for this trend can be found in shortages in the labour market, changes in the labour market rules and regulations, and unemployment protection, but also in changes in the sectoral structure (growing service sector) and in the workforce (ageing workforce, more women in employment). The common picture of employees in different employed without personnel than women; women work more in part-time jobs and (in particular among employees over age 35) women work more in a non-permanent contract then men. The non-permanent employees are either young (<25 years) or old (65+) and the share of self-employed without personnel increases with the age of the workers.

When we do not involve structural and individual characteristics in our analyses, we find the following relationships between employment status and working conditions:

1. We find little evidence for *scenario 1* and the hypothesis that dangerous work situations are transferred to non-permanent workers. The differences between permanent and non-permanent workers have decreased, with a deterioration of the situation of the permanent employees. Non-permanent employees are, however, less well informed about these risks than permanent workers. Although the differences between permanent and non-permanent employees have become less, we do still find that ergonomically poor jobs are more often performed by non-permanent employees working full-time and the self-employed (both full-time and part-time). Part-time workers are less exposed to physical hazards than full-time workers. In this case having a non-permanent contract and a part-time contract will lessen the risks.

- 2. If we look at *scenario 2*, we find evidence for most of our hypotheses. Non-permanent employees work more over weekends than permanent employees and have less control over working time. They also have less secure income, perform less skilled work and/or have less access to training. Having a non-permanent contract and a part-time contract worsens this situation. There is no difference in social support between permanent and non-permanent workers. The self-employed have less social support, work more over weekends and at non-standard working hours, but have more control over their working time.
- 3. At first glance, we seem to find evidence for *scenario 3*: permanent employees face higher psycho-social job demands than non-permanent workers and full-time employees face higher job demands than part-time employees. High job demands can be balanced (partly) by high job control. If we consider the thought that work stress is a result of unbalanced job demands versus job control, the picture is slightly different. In particular the non-permanent employees have less job control. So, at second glance, we do not find evidence for the third scenario. Job demands have increased for all groups of workers, and if we also look at job control, as a way of coping with high demands, it may be so that the consequences of intensification are experienced more by non-permanent employees, since they have less job control. When we look at the combination of job control and job demands, we see a relatively high percentage of high strain jobs for the full-time workers with a non-permanent contract.

Finally we attempt to see whether these results can be explained by the differences in employment status or whether they can be explained by the sector and occupations in which these jobs are performed or by the individual characteristics of the employees. We can conclude that, based on the explained variance, the analyses can hardly explain the differences in employment status based on the conditions of work *scenario 1*. Most of the differences we found can be better explained by differences in sector or occupation. There remains, however, a significant relationship between having a part-time contract and more *favourable* ambient conditions. There remains, also, a significant relationship between the self-employed without personnel and *unfavourable* ergonomic conditions.

We can also only partly explain the differences in the employment status of the employees and the conditions of employment. Most of these differences can be better explained by structural or individual characteristics (non-permanent employees being younger and part-time employees being female). There remains, however, a significant relationship between employment status and conditions of employment *scenario 2*: non-permanent contracts can be characterised by having low time control and less skilful tasks. Part-time contracts can be characterised by having low time control, performing less skilful tasks and receiving less training. There are no significant differences between part-time and full-time employees in the field of job demands and job control *scenario 3*, when structural characteristics are taken into account. There are also no differences between permanent and non-permanent employees in job demands, but non-permanent employees have less job control.

The employment status of the self-employed without personnel is highly linked to the conditions of employment. Their situation is, however, diverse. When structural and individual characteristics are taken into account, we find that self-employed without personnel receive less training, have less task flexibility and less social support, but they have higher time control, higher job control and face less job demands than the employees.

Bibliography

- Benavides, FG. and Benach, J., European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, *Precarious Employment and Health Related Outcomes in the European Union*, Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 1999.
- Benavides, FG., Benach, J., Diez-Roux, AV. and Roman, C. 'How do types of employment relate to health indicators?' (Second European Survey on Working Conditions), *Epidemiological Community Health*, No. 54, 2000, pp 494-501.
- Benavides, FG., Benach, J., Platt, S., Diez-Roux, AV. and Roman, C., 'The Health-Damaging Potential of New Types of Flexible Employment: A Challenge for Public Health Researchers', *American Journal of Public Health*, Volume 90, No. 8, 2000, pp. 1316-1317.
- Benavides, FG. and Benach, J., European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, *Precarious Employment and Health-Related Outcomes in the European Union*, Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2001.
- Dhondt, S. and Goudswaard, A et al., *Research on the Changing World of Work (Status Report)*, Bilbao, European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2001.
- Eurostat, Yearbook 2000, Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2000.
- Eurostat, Labour Force Survey 1999, Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 1999.
- Goudswaard, A., Houtman, I., Kraan, K. and Berg, R vd. *Arbeidsomstandigheden van Flexibele Arbeidskrachten en Deeltijders* (Working Conditions of Non-permanent and Part-time Employees) (R9900383), Hoofddorp, TNO Arbeid, 1999.
- Goudswaard, A., Kraan, K., and Dhondt, S., *Flexibiliteit in Balans: Flexibilisering en de Gevolgen voor Werkgever en Werknemer* (Flexibility In Balance: Enhanced Flexibility and the Consequences for Employers and Employees), (R990440) (report in Dutch, summary available in English), Hoofddorp: TNO Arbeid, 2000.
- Goudswaard, A., Klein Hesselink, DJ. and Kraan, KO., *Flexible Employment Policies and Working Conditions. Research Framework* (R9800280), Hoofddorp: TNO Work And Employment, 1999.
- Goudswaard, A., and de Nanteuil, M., European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, *Flexibility and Working Conditions*. A *Qualitative and Comparative Study in Seven EU Member States*, Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2000.
- Goudswaard, A. (interview). 'European Research: Pinpointing the pitfalls of flexible working conditions', *TNO Magazine*, March 2001, pp. 20-21.
- Houtman, I., and Andries F., European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, *Branch profiles and working conditions: secondary analysis on the Third European Survey*, 2002 (unpublished).
- Karasek, RA., and Theorell, T., *Healthy Work: Stress, Productivity and the Reconstruction of Working Life*, New York, Basic Books, 1991.
- Karasek, R., Brisson, C., Kawakami, N., Houtman, I., Bongers, P., and Amick, B., 'The Job Content Questionnaire (JCQ): An Instrument for Internationally Comparative Assessments of Psychological Job Characteristics', *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, Vol. 3, No. 4, 1998, pp 322-355.
- Klein Hesselink, DJ., Van Vuuren T., 'Job Flexibility and Job Insecurity The Dutch Case', *European Journal of Work and Organisational Psychology*, Vol. 8(2) 1999, pp. 273-293.

- Letourneux, V., European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, *Precarious Employment and Working Conditions in the European Union*, Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 1998a.
- Letourneux, V., European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, *The Working Conditions of the Self-Employed in the European Union*, Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 1998b.
- Merllie, D., and Paoli, P., European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, *Ten years of Working Conditions in the European Union* (summary), Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2000.
- de Nanteuil, Matthieu, 'Travail, flexibilité, précarité Quelques perspectives européennes', Cahiers du LSCI sur *La Mondialisation*, September 2000a.
- de Nanteuil, Matthieu, 'Flexibilité et travail Esquisse d'une théorie des pratiques,' Cahiers du LSCI sur *La Mondialisation*, Septembre 2000b.
- Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 'Is Job Security on the increase in OECD countries?' OECD Employment Outlook, 1997.
- Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 'Working hours: latest trends and policy initiatives', *OECD Employment Outlook*, 1998.
- Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 'The partial renaissance of selfemployment', OECD Employment Outlook, 2000.

Appendix 1 Concepts used in the survey

Survey concepts	Description	Variable names
Employment status		
Small employers	Self-employed with employees, micro firms	q4: 2. self-employed with employees
Self-employed without personne	Self-employed without employees	q4: 1. self-employed without employees
Permanent contract	Employee with an unlimited contract,	q4b: 1. unlimited contract
	permanent contract, open-ended contract	
Non-permanent contract	Temporary employment agency contract	q4b: 2. fixed term contract,
	Fixed term contract (<1 year and >1 year)	q4b: 3. temporary agency contract
First year in the job	Working less than one year in this job	Q44crr (duration of contract in years)
Full-time work	More than 35 hours per week	q14r (hours of work per week in categories)
Part-time work	Between 10 and 35 hours per week	q14r (hours of work per week in categories)
Structural characteristics		
Country	Country code	pays (15 EU countries: Belgium, Denmark,
		Germany, Greece, Italy, Spain, France, Ireland,
		Luxembourg, Netherlands, Portugal, United
		Kingdom, Finland, Sweden, Austria))
Sector	Sector, branch of industry	q5r (11 categories: agricultural, manufacture
		public utilities, construction, sales, hotel
		restaurants, transport, finance, real estate, public
		services, social sector)
Size of enterprise	Size of enterprise	q7 (5 categories: no. of employees: 2-9; 1-49; 50-99; 100-499; 500 and more)
Occupation	Occupation	q2r (10 categories: managers, professionals,
		technicians, clerks, service/sales, agriculture/fishing
		craft/trade workers, operators, elementary profes-
		sions, armed forces)
Individual characteristics		
Sex	Sex	ef10 (1. male, 2. female)
Age	Age group	ef11r1 (age 15-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45-54, 55-64, 65+)
Working conditions (1)		
Conditions of work		
Physical and/or chemical	Items:	
exposure or ambient	Vibrations	q11a (5 pointscales)
conditions	Loud noise	q11b
	Extreme (low/high) temperatures	q11c, q11d
	Toxic vapours	q11e
	Hazardous products	q11f
	Radiation	q11g
	Scale:	7 items (noise, vapour, danger, vibrations, high/low
	Unfavourable ambient conditions	temperature, radiation); range 1-7 all of the time -
		never; (Cronbach alpha .79)
Information on risks	How well informed are you about the risks	q13 (very well, fairly well, not very well, not at all)
	resulting from the use of materials,	
	instruments or products, which you handle	
	in your job?	
Musculoskeletal job demands	Items: Rainful or tiring positions	q12a
or ergonomical conditions	Painful or tiring positions	q12b
	Carrying or handling heavy loads	q12c
	Repetitive arm or hand movements	
	Scale:	3 items (painful posture, heavy work, repeated
	Unfavourable ergonomic conditions	movements); range 1-7 all of the time - never;
	1	(Cronbach alpha .69)

Survey concepts	Description	Variable names	
Emotional job demands or	Items:		
liscrimination	Intimidation	q3103 (yes/no)	
	Discrimination linked to age	q3106 (yes/no)	
	Sexual discrimination	q3104 (yes/no)	
		10 items (confrontation with physical violence,	
	Scale:	harassment, discrimination from colleagues cq.	
	Discrimination	clients); range 1-2 yes/no; (Cronbach alpha .59)	
Norking conditions (2)			
Conditions of employment			
Working time flexibility	Items:		
	No. of nights per month	q16ar	
	No of Sundays per month	q16cr	
	No. of Saturdays per month	q16dr	
	Shift work	q18b (yes/no), q18c (types)	
	No. of times more than 10 hrs a day	q16er	
	per month		
	Wanted to work more or less hours	q17b (would you like to work	
		1. more/2. less/3. same number of hours	
	Scales:		
	Work over weekends	2 items (work on Saturday/Sunday);	
		range 1-7 all of the time – never;	
		(Cronbach alpha .65)	
	Shift work	1 item; range 1-8 types, yes/no	
	Non-standard working hours	3 items (work at night, in evening and/or more	
		than 10 hours per day); no. times per month;	
		(Cronbach alpha .66)	
Control over working time	Items:		
	Can you not:		
	- Take a break when you want to	q2602 (yes/no)	
	 Decide when to take holidays or days 	q2603 (yes/no)	
	of leave		
	Scale:	2 items (taking breaks, decide on holidays);	
	Time control/less control over working hours	range 1-2 yes/no; (Cronbach alpha .62)	
Type of payment	Do you not have a basic fixed salary	ef22c (yes/no)	
kills development	Items:		
	Does your work involve:		
	- meeting quality standards	q2401	
	- solving problems	q2403	
	– monotonous tasks	q2404	
	 complex tasks 	q2405	
	- learning new things	q2406	
		6 items (meet standards, judge quality, solving	
	Scale:	problems, monotonous, complicated tasks, new	
	Lack of skills (skilled work)	things); range 1-2 yes/no; (Cronbach alpha .74)	
Foold potation			
Task rotation	Does your work involve task rotation (yes/no)	q27b1	
	Scale:	2 items (task rotation, work in teams);	
	Task flexibility	range 1-2 yes/no; (Cronbach alpha .63)	
evel of skills demands	Task flexibility Do your skills match the demands of		
evel of skills demands	-		
evel of skills demands	Do your skills match the demands of		
evel of skills demands	Do your skills match the demands of your work?	q28 (1. demands too high, 2. match, 3. too low)	

Survey concepts	Description	Variable names	
Access to training	No. days of training paid or provided by employer in last 12 months	q29r	
Social support or consultation	Items:		
	Within your workplace are you able to	q30a1 (yes/no)	
	discuss your working conditions in general?		
	Do these exchanges of views take place	q30b1 (with colleagues), q30b2 (with superiors)	
	with colleagues and/or with superiors?		
	Scale:	3 items (assistance, regular talks with colleagues	
	Social support	cq. boss); range 1-2 yes/no; (Cronbach alpha .77)	
Working conditions (3)			
Intensification of work			
Psycho-social job demands	Items:		
	Does your work entail (for at least $1/4$ of		
	working time):		
	 Very tight and very short deadlines 	q21b1 (7 pointscales)	
	– High speed work	q21b2 (7 pointscales)	
	Scale:	2 items (work at high speed, deadlines);	
	High job demands	range 1-7 all the time - never;	
		(Cronbach alpha .65)	
Job control	Items:		
	Are you able to choose or change:		
	- the order of tasks	q2501 (yes/no)	
	- the method of work	q2502 (yes/no)	
	- the speed of your work	q2503 (yes/no)	
	Scale:	3 items (free to choose order, method, speed);	
	Little job control	range 1-2 yes/no; (Cronbach alpha .64)	

Appendix 2 Figures from other data sources

	Eurostat Labour F	Eurostat Labour Force Survey 1999	
	Temporary employment (seasonal, temp agency, training contracts etc.)	Part-time employment (spontaneous)	Part-time employment (<30 hrs)
Belgium	13.7	39.9	19.9
Denmark	11.3	33.9	15.3
Germany	13.4	37.2	17.1
Greece	14.7	10.5	-
Spain	34.9	17.6	7.9
France	14.8	31.7	14.7
Ireland	9.9	30.6	18.3
Italy	11.8	15.7	11.8
Luxembourg	4.4	24.6	12.1
Netherlands	15.4	68.6	30.4
Austria	7.8	32.5	12.3
Portugal	20.4	16.7	9.3
Finland	21.2	17.0	9.9
Sweden	16.6	40.0	14.5
United Kingdom	7.5	44.4	23.0
EU	14.2	33.5	16.4

European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions

Employment status and working conditions

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities

2002 - VIII, 70 pp. - 21 x 29.7 cm

Venta • Salg • Verkauf • Πωλήσεις • Sales • Vente • Vendita • Verkoop • Venda • Myynti • Försäljning http://eur-op.eu.int/general/en/s-ad.htm

BELGIQUE/BELGIË

Jean De Lannoy

Avenue du Roi 202/Koningslaan 202 Avenue du Roi 202/Rohingsiaan 202 B-1190 Bruxellex/Brussel Téi. (32-2) 538 43 08 Fax (32-2) 538 08 41 E-mail: jean.de.lannoy@infoboard.be URL: http://www.jean-de-lannoy.be

La librairie européenne/ De Europese Boekhandel

Rue de la ci 244/Wetstraat 244 B-1040 Bruxelles/Brussel Tél. (32-2) 295 26 39 Fax (32-2) 735 08 60 E-mail: mail@libeurop.be URL: http://www.libeurop.be

Moniteur belge/Belgisch Staatsblad

Rue de Louvain 40-42/Leuvenseweg 40-42 B-1000 Bruxelles/Brussel Tél. (32-2) 552 22 11 Fax (32-2) 511 01 84 E-mail: eusales@just.fgov.be

DANMARK

J. H. Schultz Information A/S Herstedvang 12 DK-2620 Albertslund Tlf. (45) 43 63 23 00 Fax (45) 43 63 19 69 E-mail: schultz@schultz.dk URL: http://www.schultz.dk

DEUTSCHLAND

Bundesanzeiger Verlag GmbH

Vertriebsabteilung Amsterdamer Straße 192 Amsterdamer Sträße 192 D-50735 Köln Tel. (49-221) 97 66 80 Fax (49-221) 97 66 82 78 E-Mail: vertrieb@bundesanzeiger.de URL: http://www.bundesanzeiger.de

ΕΛΛΑΛΑ/GREECE

G. C. Eleftheroudakis SA

International Bookstore Panepistimiou 17 GR-10564 Athina Tel. (30-1) 331 41 80/1/2/3/4/5 Fax (30-1) 325 84 99 E-mail: elebooks@netor.gr URL: elebooks@hellasnet.gr

ESPAÑA

Boletín Oficial del Estado Trafalgar, 27 E-28071 Madrid Tel. (34) 915 38 21 11 (libros) 913 84 17 15 (suscripción) Fax (34) 915 38 21 21 (libros), 913 84 17 14 (suscripción) - 1 strateg@comb bae.es

E-mail: clientes@com.boe.es URL: http://www.boe.es

Mundi Prensa Libros, SA Castelló, 37 E-28001 Madrid Tel. (34) 914 36 37 00 Fax (34) 915 75 39 98 E-mail: libreria@mundiprensa.es URL: http://www.mundiprensa.com

FRANCE

Journal officiel

Service des publications des CE 26, rue Desaix F-75727 Paris Cedex 15 Tél. (33) 140 58 77 31 Fax (33) 140 58 77 00 E-mail: europublications@journal-officiel.gouv.fr URL: http://www.journal-officiel.gouv.fr

IRELAND

Alan Hanna's Bookshop 270 Lower Rathmines Road Dublin 6 Tel. (353-1) 496 73 98 Fax (353-1) 496 02 28 E-mail: hannas@iol.ie

ITALIA

Licosa SpA

Via Duca di Calabria, 1/1 Casella postale 552 I-50125 Firenze Tel. (39) 055 64 83 1 Fax (39) 055 64 12 57 E-mail: licosa@licosa.com URL: http://www.licosa.com

LUXEMBOURG

Messageries du livre SARL 5, rue Raiffeisen 5, rue Rattersen L-2411 Luxembourg Tél. (352) 40 10 20 Fax (352) 49 06 61 E-mail: mail@mdl.lu URL: http://www.mdl.lu

NEDERLAND

SDU Servicecentrum Uitgevers Christoffel Plantijnstraat 2 Postbus 20014 2500 EA Den Haag Tel. (31-70) 378 98 80 Fax (31-70) 378 97 83 E-mail: sdu@sdu.nl URL: http://www.sdu.nl

PORTUGAL

Distribuidora de Livros Bertrand Ld.ª Grupo Bertrand, SA Rua das Terras dos Vales, 4-A Apartado 60037 P-2700 Amadora Tel. (351) 214 95 87 87 Fax (351) 214 96 02 55 E-mail: dlb@ip.pt

Imprensa Nacional-Casa da Moeda, SA

Sector de Publicações Oficiais Rua da Escola Politécnica, 135 P-1250-100 Lisboa Codex Tel. (351) 213 94 57 00 Fax (351) 213 94 57 50 E-mail: spoce@incm.pt URL: http://www.incm.pt

SUOMI/FINLAND

Akateeminen Kirjakauppa/ Akademiska Bokhandeln

Keskuskatu 1/Centralgatan 1 Keskuskatu 1/Centralgatan 1 PL/PB 128 FIN-00101 Helsinki/Helsingfors P./ftn (358-9) 121 44 18 F./fax (358-9) 121 44 35 Sähköposti: sps@akateeminen.com URL: http://www.akateeminen.com

SVERIGE

BTJ AB Traktorvägen 11-13 S-221 82 Lund Tlf. (46-46) 18 00 00 Fax (46-46) 30 79 47 E-post: btjeu-pub@btj.se URL: http://www.btj.se

UNITED KINGDOM

The Stationery Office Ltd

Customer Services PO Box 29 Norwich NR3 1GN Tel. (44) 870 60 05-523 Fax (44) 870 60 05-533 F-mail: book.orders@theso.co.uk URL: http://www.itsofficial.net

ÍSLAND

Bokabud Larusar Blöndal

Skólavördustig, 2 IS-101 Reykjavik Tel. (354) 552 55 40 Fax (354) 552 55 60 E-mail: bokabud@simnet.is

SCHWEIZ/SUISSE/SVIZZERA

Euro Info Center Schweiz c/o OSEC Business Network Switzerland Stampfenbachstraße 85 PF 492 PF 492 CH-8035 Zürich Tel. (41-1) 365 53 15 Fax (41-1) 365 54 11 E-mail: eics@osec.ch URL: http://www.osec.ch/eics

BĂLGARIJA

Europress Euromedia Ltd 59. blvd Vitosha 59, blvd Vitosha BG-1000 Sofia Tel. (359-2) 980 37 66 Fax (359-2) 980 42 30 E-mail: Milena@mbox.cit.bg URL: http://www.europress.bg

CYPRUS

EESTI

Cyprus Chamber of Commerce and Industry PO Box 21455 CY-1509 Nicosia Tel. (357-2) 88 97 52 Fax (357-2) 66 10 44 E-mail: demetrap@ccci.org.cy

Eesti Kaubandus-Tööstuskoda

(Estonian Chamber of Commerce and Industry) (Estonian Chamber of Cor Toom-Kooli 17 EE-10130 Tallinn Tel. (372) 646 02 44 Fax (372) 646 02 45 E-mail: einfo@koda.ee URL: http://www.koda.ee

HRVATSKA Mediatrade Ltd Pavla Hatza 1

HR-10000 Zagreb Tel. (385-1) 481 94 11 Fax (385-1) 481 94 11

MAGYARORSZÁG

Euro Info Service Szt. István krt.12 III emelet 1/A PO Box 1039 H-1137 Budapest Tel. (36-1) 329 21 70 Fax (36-1) 349 20 53 E-mail: euroinfo@euroinfo.hu URL: http://www.euroinfo.hu

MALTA

Miller Distributors Ltd Malta International Airport PO Box 25 Luqa LQA 05 Tel. (356) 66 44 88 Fax (356) 67 67 99 E-mail: gwirth@usa.net

NORGE

Swets Blackwell AS

Hans Nielsen Hauges gt. 39 Boks 4901 Nydalen N-0423 Oslo Tel. (47) 23 40 00 00 Fax (47) 23 40 00 00 E-mail: info@no.swetsblackwell.com URL: http://www.swetsblackwell.com.no

POLSKA

Ars Polona Krakowskie Przedmiescie 7 Skr. pocztowa 1001 PL-00-950 Warszawa Tel. (48-22) 826 12 01 Fax (48-22) 826 62 40 E-mail: books119@arspolona.com.pl

ROMÂNIA

Euromedia Str.Dionisie Lupu nr. 65, sector 1 RO-70184 Bucuresti Tel. (40-1) 315 44 03 Fax (40-1) 312 96 46 E-mail: euromedia@mailcitv.com

SLOVAKIA

Centrum VTI SR Nám. Slobody, 19 SK-81223 Bratislava Tel. (421-7) 54 41 83 64 Fax (421-7) 54 41 83 64 E-mail: europ@tbb1.sltk.stuba.sk URL: http://www.sltk.stuba.sk

SLOVENIJA

GV Zalozba Dunajska cesta 5 SLO-1000 Ljubljana Tel. (386) 613 09 1804 Fax (386) 613 09 1805 E-mail: europ@gvestnik.si URL: http://www.gvzalozba.si

TÜRKIYE

Dünya Infotel AS 100, Yil Mahallessi 34440 TR-80050 Bagcilar-Istanbul Tel. (90-212) 629 46 89 Fax (90-212) 629 46 27 E-mail: aktuel.info@dunya.com

ARGENTINA

World Publications SA Av. Cordoba 1877 C1120 AAA Buenos Aires Tel. (54-11) 48 15 81 56 Fax (54-11) 48 15 81 56 E-mail: wpbooks@infovia.com.ar URL: http://www.wpbooks.com.ar

AUSTRALIA

Hunter Publications PO Box 404 Abbotsford, Victoria 3067 Tel. (61-3) 94 17 53 61 Fax (61-3) 94 19 71 54 E-mail: jpdavies@ozemail.com.au

BRESIL

Livraria Camões Rua Bittencourt da Silva, 12 C CEP

CEP 20043-900 Rio de Janeiro Tel. (55-21) 262 47 76 Fax (55-21) 262 47 76 E-mail: livraria.camoes@incm.com.br URL: http://www.incm.com.br

CANADA

Les éditions La Liberté Inc. 3020, chemin Sainte-Foy Sainte-Foy, Québec G1X 3V6 Tel. (1-418) 658 37 63 Fax (1-800) 567 54 49 E-mail: liberte@mediom.qc.ca

Renouf Publishing Co. Ltd

5369 Chemin Canotek Road, Unit 1 Ottawa, Ontario K1J 9J3 Tel. (1-613) 745 26 65 Fax (1-613) 745 76 60 E-mail: order.dept@renoufbooks.com URL: http://www.renoufbooks.com

EGYPT

The Middle East Observer 41 Sherif Street

Cairo Tel. (20-2) 392 69 19 Fax (20-2) 393 97 32 E-mail: inquiry@meobserver.com URL: http://www.meobserver.com.eg

MALAYSIA

EBIC Malaysia

Suite 45.02, Level 45 Plaza MBf (Letter Box 45) 8 Jalan Yap Kwan Seng 50450 Kuala Lumpur Tel. (60-3) 21 62 92 98 Fax (60-3) 21 62 61 98 E-mail: ebic@tm.net.my

MÉXICO

Mundi Prensa México. SA de CV

Río Pánuco, 141 Colonia Cuauhtémoc MX-06500 México, DF Tel. (52-5) 533 56 58 Fax (52-5) 514 67 99 E-mail: 101545.2361@compuserve.com

SOUTH AFRICA

Eurochamber of Commerce in South Africa PO Box 781738 2146 Sandton Tel. (27-11) 884 39 52 Fax (27-11) 883 55 73 E-mail: info@eurochamber.co.za

SOUTH KOREA

The European Union Chamber of Commerce in Korea Commerce in Korea 202, Jangchung-dong 2 Ga, Chung-ku Seoul 100-392 Tel. (82-2) 22 53-5631/4 Fax (82-2) 22 53-5635/6

E-mail: eucck@eucck.ord URL: http://www.eucck.org

SRI LANKA EBIC Sri Lanka

T'AI-WAN

PO Box 81-466

Bernan Associates

ANDERE LÄNDER OTHER COUNTRIES AUTRES PAYS

Trans Asia Hotel 115 Sir Chittampalam A. Gardiner Mawatha

A. Gardiner Mawatha Colombo 2 Tel. (94-1) 074 71 50 78 Fax (94-1) 44 87 79 E-mail: ebicsl@slnet.ik

Tycoon Information Inc

TO5 Taipei Tel. (886-2) 87 12 88 86 Fax (886-2) 87 12 47 47 E-mail: euitupe@ms21.hinet.net

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

4611-F Assembly Drive Lanham MD 20706-4391 Tel. (1-800) 274 44 47 (toll free telephone) Fax (1-800) 865 34 50 (toll free fax) E-mail: query@bernan.com URL: http://www.bernan.com

Bitte wenden Sie sich an ein Büro Ihrer Wahl/Please contact the sales office of your choice/Veuillez vous adresser au bureau de vente de votre choix

Ornical Publications of th Communities 2, rue Mercier L-2985 Luxembourg Tel. (352) 29 29-42455 Fax (352) 29 29-424758 E-mail: info-info-opcoc@cec.eu.int URL: publications.eu.int

Office for Official Publications of the European

EF/02/08/EN

2/2002

Since the 1980s there has been a growth in 'non-standard' employment: part-time jobs, non-permanent contracts and self-employment. This trend is not without important consequences for the employees involved: many of these new jobs have been called 'precarious' and there is evidence to suggest that working conditions for this category of workers are less favourable than for permanent workers. This report compares the work situation of these two groups of workers. It covers aspects such as working time, task flexibility, skills development, physical risk factors and psycho-social demands. Its findings are based on data from the Foundation's Third European survey on working conditions 2000 which was carried out across the 15 EU Member States.

The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions is a tripartite EU body, whose role is to provide key actors in social policy-making with findings, knowledge and advice drawn from comparative research. The Foundation was established in 1975 by Council Regulation EEC No. 1365/75 of 26 May 1975.

